
COMMISSIONERS OF OXFORD 
Regular Meeting Minutes 

March 14, 2023 
 

The Commissioners Meeting was held in the Oxford Firehouse on Tuesday, March 14, 2023. Commission President 
Jimmy Jaramillo called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  

PRESENT 

Attending the meeting were Commission President James Jaramillo, Commissioner Brian Wells, Commissioner 
Tom Costigan, Town Manager Cheryl Lewis, and Town Attorney Lyndsey Ryan. Public Works WW Supervisor Matt 
Ozman and Planning Officer Maria Brophy attended virtually. Approximately 150 people were in attendance and 
another 50 virtually. 

The meeting opened with the Pledge of Allegiance.   

Commission President Jaramillo stated that in the previous town meeting residents expressed their concerns 
about the Commissioners shortfalls and transparency, the Commissioners heard those concerns and are 
committed to improving policies and practices going forward.  

Commissioner Costigan stated the he had been a commissioner since last July and the question he was posing was 
could the Commissioner’s transparency and communication be better, and his answer was an absolute yes. He 
stated that answers for many of the questions posed last meeting had been posted on the town website, but for 
those who may have not seen them, he read them aloud. The website responses are attached to these minutes. 
Following the reading he stated that with regards to personnel information, which is privileged and confidential, 
there would be no discussion, which he realizes is the not the answer that some want to hear, but that is what 
privileged and confidential means. He added that he would be happy to meet with the town ethics board to discuss 
this matter. He also recommended that the Commissioners set up an ad hoc committee to develop and 
recommend best hiring practices for the town to implement, requesting that those interested in serving submit 
their interest to the town office by March 31, 2023, with a preference for residents with real world HR experience.   

Commissioner Wells stated that the Commissioners were pleased to announce that Eric Kellner has been hired as 
the new Chief of Police. 1st Sergeant Kellner is the Executive Officer of the Patrol Division for the Easton Police 
Department, where he has been employed since 2001.  While with the Easton Police Department, his assignments 
have included, among other things, patrol division, supervisor of bike patrol, Maryland Police Training Commission 
Instructor, Narcotics Unit, and Swat Team Leader. 1st Sergeant Kellner currently serves as the liaison to the Talbot 
911 Center, supervises parking enforcement and school crossing guards, handles public assembly permits, 
oversees reports and officer scheduling, is the administrator of the speed camera program and speed signs, 
prepares updates to the Police Department Manual, and responds to patrol. In his off time, 1st Sergeant Kellner is 
an active lifetime member of a local fire department and has previously served as the Chief and President. In 
addition, he is a part-time employee of the Caroline County Emergency Services as an EMT which he has done for 
19 years. His wife, Jennifer, is an Officer with the Easton Police Department. They have two children.  1st Sergeant 
Kellner is the assistant coach for his son’s little league team. He and his family are looking forward to being part 
of the Oxford community.  1stSergeant Kellner comes to us highly recommended from the Easton Police 
Department, where he is retiring from at the end of this month, and will join our Department officially on April 
10th.  

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Commissioner Wells motioned to approve the minutes of February 28, 2023 as distributed, Commissioner 
Costigan seconded the motion, all were in favor, and the motion carried. 



Commissioner Costigan motioned to approve the Report of Disbursements for January 2023, Commissioner Wells 
seconded the motion, all were in favor, and the motion carried.  

PUBLIC WORKS REPORT 

Supervisor Ozman was attending virtually. Town Manager Lewis read his report. Public works has been working 
on pothole patching around Town with temperatures now above freezing. Public works has been working 
diligently on storm water drainage around town with the improvements to culverts, jetting, and cleaning out 
drainage boxes along with ditches. Mark with Bartlett tree was kind enough to send in a team of climbers to 
retrieve a dead hanging branch in Town Park. Now is the time of year the crew is in the shop performing needed 
maintenance to our fleet of equipment. This includes dump truck cleaning, painting of beds and rims to prevent 
rust and normal preventive maintenance. Mowers have been serviced and cleaned up for the upcoming mowing 
season. Town trucks are being detailed, as weather permits, inside and out including inventory on tools and 
equipment on each of them. All excavation equipment, backhoes, skid steer and mini excavator being cleaned 
inside and out and inspected. Public works has finished repairing shop roof over office. Spring is coming the crew 
has started ramping up on park clean ups and getting ready for Oxford day 2023. 

POLICE REPORT 

The report had been submitted to the Commissioners for review prior to the meeting and it was noted that Oxford 
Police and Sheriff’s Department will be supporting the Oxford Day Committee on April 22nd. Radios for the traffic 
personnel during the event have been requested from Talbot County Emergency Services. 

FIRE COMPANY REPORT  

Lewis provided the fire company report for February as submitted by Chief Norbury. 9 fire/rescue calls - 4 in our 
first-due, 5 mutual aid. 4 medical/ambulance calls – 3 patient transports, 1 mutual-aid standby in Easton for a 
mass casualty incident (motor vehicle crash with 7 patients), 101 member responses, and 66 hours worked. 
Overall call volume has been lower than expected for the past month.  It’s hard to draw any specific conclusions 
for the underlying reasons other than unseasonably mild weather, but statistics have a habit of catching up over 
time.  Area hospitals remain quite busy as there are a number of different respiratory bugs (including but not 
limited to COVID) out in the community at present. Oxford Fire Company Officers and Members regret to 
announce the passing of Life Member/Past Chief Richard Smith.  Mr Smith was a strong advocate for fire safety 
and worked tirelessly with our State Legislators and the Maryland State Fireman’s Association (MSFA) to pass laws 
requiring sprinklers in new residential construction, as well as improving tax benefits for first responders.  A 
viewing and service was held at St Marks UMC in Easton on Saturday March 4, and Interment took place at Oxford 
Cemetery followed by a reception at the firehouse. 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

Lewis provided an update on the Speed Camera System Legislation, which has passed the Senate and is pending 
a vote in the House and, with any luck, will make it through both chambers on the fourth try.  

Lewis summarized the Water System Improvement Projects to be funded with the secured USDA Loan and Grant, 
including new water meter reading and billing equipment and software, test wells for a new water source, and 
depending on the results, upgrade to the arsenic removal system and a new fluoride removal system, as both 
minerals are found naturally in the current water source, refurbishing of the existing water towers, and final 
efforts would utilize remaining funding to continue replacing older water conveyance lines. Attorney Ryan 
summarized the criteria in the Request for Qualifications and stated responses were received from George Miles 
and Buhr (GMB), McCrone, Rauch Inc., and Davis Bowen & Friedel (DBF). The information provided was placed 
into a matrix and rated depending on record of performance, familiarity with the work, understanding and 
approach to services, and completion of submission.  Based on the rating scale, it was recommended that cost 



proposals be requested from the two engineering firms that ranked highest, GMB and DBF. Commissioner 
Costigan recommended Ryan follow up with the two most qualified firms, GMB and DBF, and request submittal 
of cost proposals, Commissioner Wells seconded the motion, all were in favor, and the motion carried.  

NEW BUSINESS 

Lewis stated that a Request For Quotes for the Design Build Flood Remediation Project utilizing ARPA funds has 
been posted. This project will included studying of stormwater and tidal water flooding issues in two areas of 
town, South Morris at Pier Street, and the Stewart Avenue, Tilghman Road, Mill Street area. The RFQ request bids 
for design, with proposed construction, with the intent to pursue the project as far as the funding holdouts. If full 
construction is not possible with this funding, the town will continue to seek funds for the effort. Responses are 
anticipated prior to the next meeting.   

Lewis stated that a Letter of Interest had been submitted to Senators Cardin and Van Hollen, and Congressman 
Harris, seeking funding support for “Building Capacity for Sea Level Rise Adaption on the Eastern Shore” proposing 
a partnership between the town and the Oxford NOAA Lab to study Sea Level rise in Oxford, which is basically 
ground zero for Sea Level Rise in the Chesapeake Bay, and with a request to include a live tide gauge in Oxford for 
both historic data and to assist in flood predictions.  

Commissioner Costigan requesting support for the ad hoc committee previously mentioned, motioning to create 
an ad hoc committee to develop and recommend best hiring practices for the town to implement, Commissioner 
Wells seconded the motion, all were in favor, and the motion carried. Interested parties should email the town 
office by March 31, 2023. 

LETTERS AND REQUEST 

Oxford Auxiliary requested use of Central Park to hold a Carnival on July 15, 2023. Commissioner Wells motioned 
to approve the request, Commissioner Costigan seconded the motion, all were in favor, and the motion carried.  
Chesapeake Cycling Club will be hosting a ride on April 29 utilizing the ferry. Talbot Thrive will be hosting the Tour 
de Talbot on June 10th, with 400 to 600 bikes expected to come through town. The YMCA will be working at the 
ferry to assist and it is anticipated they will bring in additional portopots in that area for the event.  

TOWN MANAGER 

It was noted that the Oxford website “oxfordmd.net” will soon be transitioning to “oxfordmd.gov” which has been 
in the works for about a year now. Currently they will be moving data from one domain to another and, although 
no impact is anticipated during the transition, it is worth noting the potential for some disruption on the website. 
This is just the first step in the process and updates will follow.  

Lewis reminded the Commissioners we would be starting the Budget process with the submittal of both a revised 
FY 2023 Budget and a proposed FY 2024 Budget in April. At this time she was presenting an emergency request 
for an amendment to the to the Police Department budget, which was provided to the Commissioners. It was 
noted while inspecting the current tasers, all current cartridges had expired in 2020, batteries in all three tasers 
were too low for the weapons to function, attempts to update the firmware was unsuccessful, and two of the 
units were showing error codes. With loaner components from EPD, one taser was piece together and is 
operational. This request will include the purchase of three new tasers, necessary accessories, and service over a 
five year period, at $3000 annually. Additionally the current vehicle laptops are obsolete, with only 1 able to 
connect to the internet, the request is to purchase 3 vehicle laptops and installation components, with an 
estimated cost of $20,000. Lastly, Lewis stated that body cameras will be a requirement by 2025. Currently the 
department does not have any cameras, but there is the desire to implement them immediately. After reviewing 
grant funding availability, it does not seem cost effective to seek competitive federal funding for 50% of unit cost, 
netting about $1500. Purchase of body cameras and necessary accessories, under a 5 year contract, will be $4500 
the first year and $1100 annually after that. Commissioner Costigan motioned to acknowledge the Police 



Department amendment request, with the understand that it will be included in the upcoming proposed budget 
amendment, Commissioner Wells seconded the motion, all were in favor and the motion carried. 

Lewis commented that there had been a lot of discussion regarding town employee salaries and that, although it 
is not generally published information, she felt in the interest of transparency she would provide it: Town Mgr 
$164k, Waste/Water Supervisor $100k, Police Chief $100k, Planning Officer $85k, Water Supervisor $80k, Police 
Officer $76k, Admin Assistant $68k, and Maintenance Crew $50-$60k. 

Commissioner Wells commented that salaries are set by the Commissioners, and when setting salaries they do 
not look at Oxford as an island, they look at the environment and the region to determine what is being paid 
elsewhere, noting that as many were aware, salaries went up across the board during the pandemic. Based on his 
own experience salaries have increased significantly everywhere, and it was the responsibility of the 
Commissioners to assure fair and competitive compensation to maintain Oxford’s talented staff.  

COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 

Commissioner Wells took a moment to highlight Town Manager Lewis’s accomplishments on her 11 year 
anniversary, noting both her work ethics and infrastructure accomplishments, with 11 completed projects totaling 
$22 million with 84% grant funded, 5 completed studies at $200k with 85% grant funded, and 7 projects currently 
in progress at $8.3 million with 65% grant funded. Full statement is attached to these minutes.  

PUBLIC COMMENT  

Justin Werner inquired as to whether there was anything the public could do to push the legislation for the speed 
camera along, and will forward support by email to the office.  

Ray Sattler wish to point out that he was appreciative of Lewis’s answering of the office phone after hours on 
Friday, and following up with answers to his question within 30 minutes.  

Davenport West requested that the Commissioners bring back the police report detailing calls in town. He was 
told the reports would come back.  

Jan Greenhawk, stated that although it was nice that questions had been responded to, she wanted to know why 
has it taken so long to follow standard procedures. Now people are involved with the town, we are back, we care, 
and we are not going away.  

Melody Davis noted the quick response to her emailed questions earlier, and asked in reference to the finding in 
the 2016 Audit ‘segregation of duties’ statement what made up the two person finance office. Commissioner 
Wells stated that in response to the segregation of duties question, he wanted her to know that all town checks 
are cosigned by a commissioner, additionally all disbursements are reviewed by the Commissioners monthly. 
Lewis stated that in addition to the dual signature checks, which the accountants do verify, along with review of 
all town processes at audit, the town was currently speaking with an independent auditor to provide additional 
oversite on a quarterly basis as a third party review separate from the towns auditing firm and providing 
information to the audit.  

Sid Campen expressed his disappointment in the treatment the Commissioners received at the prior meeting, 
noting they are elected to make decisions on behalf the town, and sometimes they have to make administrative 
decisions regarding personnel, and these decisions are not for publication and in the case of non-disclosure 
agreements, they are generally designed to protect the employee not the employer. If you are feel aggrieved by 
the decision of this Commission, there will be an election in about 90 days. In the meantime, we should step back 
and let these Commissioners do their jobs. Oxford has made it 340 years without a whole lot of changes and it will 
likely make it another 340 years without a whole lot of changes.  



Dorothy Fenwick noted that she had filed a Freedom of Information request following a visit to the town office 
where she was not immediately provided a Financial Statement upon request. She stated the Financials were not 
provided on the website as it is in Federalsburg and Denton. She received a letter stating the 22 years of 
statements requested were available but would have to be retrieved from storage. She commented that Lewis 
did inform her that the most recent 12 years had been uploaded to the website and the prior 10 years will still 
being scanned. Fenwick noted that this is not the natural way of doing things. 

Emily Knud Hanson said she thought the response to the questions of the 28th was timely and showed that the 
Commissioners were listening. She also requested that the new chief be introduced at the next meeting so he 
could be welcomed. He will be invited for introduction at the March 28th meeting and will be sworn in at the April 
11th meeting.  

John Pepe stated he had prepared a written statement in support of the administration, but many of the positive 
points had already been covered by Wells and Campen, and he would refrain from repeating. He did wish to note 
that while he was a seated commissioner during the pandemic, that Lewis had the forethought at the beginning 
of the pandemic to tell the commissioners it was necessary to tighten up immediately, presenting a budget with 
a 25% reduction, sufficient to continue operations until things stabilized.  He also noted Lewis’s efforts during the 
18 million dollar upgrade to the sewer plant, producing a substantial amount of grant funding, fighting to avoid 
cost overruns saving the town money, and building a team of properly trained operators for the new system. Pepe 
stated that he wish to thank Lewis for what she has done for the town and that it had been a pleasure to work 
with her.  

Warren Davis stated that he sent a letter to the Commissioners regarding recent law changes for non-disclosure 
agreements, along with several other comments. He was told letters would be read following public comment.  

Jim Wilcox agrees with the comments regarding the responsiveness of the Commissioners to the concerns, but he 
would also like to note that he doesn’t feel there is anything in the law that prevents disclosure of the information 
found within a non-disclosure agreement if confidentiality is waived, and this way everyone would feel better 
knowing what happen.  

Following public comment Attorney Ryan read the letter submitted prior to the meeting and attached to these 
minutes. Commissioner Wells motioned to close the Public Comments, Commissioner Costigan seconded the 
motion, all were in favor.  

There being no further business, Commissioner Costigan made a motion to adjourn the meeting, Commissioner 
Wells seconded the motion, all were in favor, and the meeting was adjourned at 7:10 pm. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Cheryl Lewis, Town Manager 



In response to questions asked during Public Comment in the February 28, 2023 Meeting: 

Annual Audits: The Town of Oxford is audited annually by a qualified accounting firm, after which a 
Financial Report is prepared, and in years when federal grant or loan funding is used, a secondary Single 
Audit Financial Report is prepared to assure compliant use of federal funds. Annually these Financial 
Report are provided to the Maryland Legislative Services as required by law, along with forwarding to all 
lenders/grant funders, including the Maryland Dept. of Environment, the Governor’s Office of Crime 
Control & Prevention, Shore United Bank, and, when requested, USDA Rural Development. The Town has 
been audited annually since 1940 and is currently compliant with a completed and submitted FY 2022 
audit.  

Boat Slip Waiting List: The Town has 44 Boat Slips in three locations. The policy is to maintain 50% for 
town residents (private and waterman) and 50% for non-resident licensed commercial waterman, as there 
has always been the desire to maintain the working waterfront heritage of the Town. Two waiting lists are 
maintained at the front desk (town residents/commercial watermen), with people added in numeric order 
including date of request. Those on the list are asked to identify their boat size in order to determine 
suitability of slips as they become available. Some have been on the list for an extended period of time 
because of either the size of slip needed to accommodate their boat, location requested, or because they 
chose to pass at that time and remain on the list. When a slip becomes available, the first appropriate 
boat owner is contacted, after which the calls continue down the list until a new tenant is found. 
Occasionally, lessees are permitted to exchange slips if a more appropriate slip becomes available, but 
must give up the original slip in order for the next person on the waiting list to have an opportunity. With 
regards to the rates, the rates increase 3% annually per a resolution passed in 2012 to accommodate the 
cost associated with maintaining the slips, trash cans, dumpsters, parking lots, and other associated 
services.  

Town owned residential housing: The Town constructed two adjoining townhouses in 1989 to provide 
the opportunity for a few employees to reside within the town. The homes are generally occupied by a 
Police Officer and a Public Work’s employee. In years when there was not an employee to occupy a home, 
it was offered to a Coast Guard member, as their residency is always temporary for the term they are 
stationed here, which is usually around two years. The current intention is to continue providing residency 
to a Police Officer and a Public Works Employee. Additionally, the opportunity is generally offered to 
existing employees prior to being offered to incoming employees; and will always be offered to all 
employees prior to reaching out to the Coast Guard or other town service entity.    

Hiring Practice: When seeking personnel to fill open positions for the Town of Oxford, the opportunity to 
apply for all positions is published on Indeed.com, the highest traffic job website in the US. All 
supervisory/department positions are interviewed and hired by the Commissioners of Oxford, entry level 
positions are interviewed by two supervisors and hired upon recommendation to and approval by the 
Commissioners of Oxford. All employee compensation is approved by the Commissioners of Oxford. 

With specific reference to the Police Department, a post seeking officers was published on Indeed in 
February of 2022, and was posted on the town website and Facebook Page at the same time, along with 



newspaper advertising first in the Star Democrat, then in all eastern shore newspapers owned by the 
Chesapeake Publishing. The opportunity to apply for a Police position is still posted on the town website, 
as the town has been actively seeking applicants for the last year. 

With regards to questions about personnel issues, interviews, discussions, reprimands, and personal 
information provided by applicants and employees, this information is privileged and confidential and 
will not be shared to protect the individual employees who apply, serve, or who have served this town. 

On behalf the Commissioners or Oxford, 
Cheryl Lewis, Town Manager 









 
March 14, 2023 
 
    
   
 

Commissioner James Jaramillo, President 
Commissioner Brian Wells 
Commissioner Thomas Costigan 
 
Dear Oxford Commissioners,  
 
At the February 28th meeting, the Oxford Commissioners met and listened to an hour of 
concerns from a standing room only meeting of town citizens. Last week the home page 
of the town website was updated to include some responses to issues raised at the 
meeting, including: 
 
• Links to the Annual Audits/Financial Reports; 
• Description of the Town Boat Slip Policy; 
• Discussion of policy regarding town-owned housing; 
• A description of the Town’s hiring practices, including efforts starting in February of 

2022 to hire police officers; and 
• Ended with this, “With regards to questions about personnel issues, interviews, 

discussions, reprimands, and personal information provided by applicants and 
employees, this information is privileged and confidential and will not be shared to 
protect the individual employees who apply, serve, or who have served this town.” 

 
While some of this information is partially responsive and appreciated, the concern that 
drew the standing room crowd to the OCC was not addressed - the facts and 
circumstances surrounding the resignation/retirement/firing of Chief Pat Maxwell. 
 
Here is what we would like and expect to see: 
 
“Retirement” of Chief Maxwell. The Commissioners declined to provide any 
information regarding Pat’s “retirement” under the rationale that they are “protect[ing] 
the individual employees who apply, serve, or have served this town.” Ironically, in this 
case the rationale, when coupled with the Commissioners’ conditioning Pat’s 
“retirement” benefits on his signing a non-disclosure agreement (NDA), achieves the 
exact opposite result.  A 34+ year highly respected public safety employee of Oxford is 
left with the presumption, which he is unable to respond to, that he engaged in conduct 
so egregious that it warranted his immediate and unplanned “retirement.” In order to 
overcome this impasse, we strongly urge the Commissioners to meet with Pat and his 
counsel and negotiate a termination of the NDA so that both he and the Commissioners 
would be free to discuss the circumstances that led to his “retirement.”  The NDA 
termination should not in any way impact the economic terms of Pat’s “retirement” and 
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both parties would agree to forego any right to seek further redress with respect to this 
matter.  Pat should have the right to accept or reject this proposal. 
 
Search for New Police Chief.  We have been able to find the advertisement for police 
officers on the town website which, as you indicated, was published in February of 
2022.  It is our assumption that the posting for the position of police officer was in direct 
response to the retirement of Officer Jim Thomas (who retired in the fall of 2021).  We 
have not been able to find any similar posting for the position of police chief.   The 
Commissioners should direct the Town Manager to fully disclose all actions taken to 
hire a new police chief. In addition, the Commissioners should consider appointing a 
number of citizens of Oxford to participate and advise the Commissioners in filling this 
position. 
 
Compensation of Key Town Employees.  In response to requests for access to the 
Oxford financial audits, copies of recent audited Financial Reports have been posted to 
the town website.  However, these reports fail to reveal the compensation paid to 
Oxford’s most highly paid employees.  The public disclosure of compensation to 
Maryland State employees is mandated by law.  In the interest of transparency, we 
believe the same should apply to municipal employees of the Town of Oxford. The 
Commissioners should direct the Town Manager to disclose the names and 
compensation of each Town employee earning over $50,000, including records of the 
hiring process (advertising, etc.) followed for each. 
 
There were a number of other issues raised during the February 28 meeting, including 
questions regarding the ethics of certain personnel decisions.  These will be addressed 
to the Ethics Committee as a separate matter. 
 
The undersigned have reviewed this letter and agree that it reflects their views 
regarding the matters discussed at the Commissioners’ meeting of February 28th.  We 
request that the Commissioners read this letter into the record and respond to this letter 
during the meeting scheduled for March 14th. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Dick Deerin    Warren Davis 
Dorothy Fenwick   Madge Henning 
Mark Lacey    John Pittman 
Henry Hale    Simon Arnstein 
Joan Levy    Sharon Kenny 
Joe Kenny    Cammy Passarella 
Tony Passarella   Suzie Hurley 
John Hurley    Jan Greenhawk 
Jimmy Greenhawk   Kimberly Baldwin 
Daniel Baldwin   Terry Lee 
Rebecca Gaffney   George Gaffney 
Barbara Hartshorn   Leslie Howells 
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William Kooper   Courtney Lambeth 
Jack Sullivan    Sue McWilliams 
John Sutton    Dodi Sutton 
Wendy Gibson   Jan Nelson 
Stephen Weissenberger  Brooke Myers 
Larry Myers    Catherine Bitter 
Freiderikos Franke   Thomas Caravytha 
Suzanne Fischer   Joseph Fischer 
Maxine Millar    David Ghysels 
Jane Selden    Stephen Selden 
Jane McCarthy   Susan Devlin 
Chris Fogarty   Nancy Forarty 
Emily Knud Hansen   Chris Kalinsky 
Jan Greer    Daniel Kordel 
Susan Kordel   Davenport West 
Ray Sattler    Linda Sattler 
Carol Kachadoorian   Tom Downs 
Melody Davis   Elizabeth Gordon 
Kristen Hagn    James Hagn 
Jodie Hamburg   Mike Hamburg 
Jean Konopacz    Robert Konopacz 
Amber Petry    Mark Petry 
Elaine Rensberger   Scott Rensberger 
Richard Schramm    Zoe Perkins 
Liz Hasbrouck   Emily Griswold 
John Fairhall 
 
 



From: Melody Watson
To: Cheryl Lewis
Subject: Comments / Questions about Oxford Audited Financials 2022 for Town Meeting on 3/14
Date: Monday, March 13, 2023 4:29:17 PM
Attachments: FY22-Oxford-FS.pdf

OXFORD 2012-Res-Town-Manager-Clerk-Treasurer.pdf

Thank you for the opportunity to comment and ask questions in advance of the Town Meeting
on 3/14.

My question is related to the Independent Auditor's report on Internal Controls, which starts at
page 52 of the attached, Finding Number 2022-001

The auditors noted the need for segregation of duties as the current system creates conflicts
within duties assigned to a single individual and produces a high level of internal control risk.
The auditors recommended responsibilities for authorization, recording, and maintaining
custody of assets be assigned to different employees.  The auditors acknowledged  that this
may not always be possible, especially in a small office, so they recommended
implementation of certain transaction review controls.  

The response from the Town is it would not be cost effective to add additional personnel to
ensure complete segregation of duties in the Finance department, however, within the 2-person
finance department, the Town has effectively designed and implemented mitigating controls to
reduce the risk.

Question:

1) What is the structure within the 2-person Finance department, and who is responsible for
doing what?  

Who can create purchase orders,?
Who reviews purchase orders/expenditures?
Who approves purchase orders/expenditures?
Who has access to the bank accounts?
Who reconciles the bank accounts?

2) Are there payment authority levels (in other words, is all authority granted to the Town
Manager/Treasurer, or are there $$ thresholds that would necessitate the Town
Commissioner's review and approval of certain transactions?

3) Resolution No 2012, Section C3-2 (see attached), indicates, " The office of Town Manager
/ Clerk-Treasurer, combining the two positions, may be utilized if the Commission determines
it is appropriate and a suitable person is available."  What activities does the combined Town
Manager / Town Clerk perform?

4) Has the Town thought about hiring a Controller, or a Finance person and de-coupling some
Finance functions from the Town Manager?   I recognize funds might be tight for that, and
hence the rationale for combining the Town Manager / Treasurer position and in that case,
could the Town design other compensating controls to address the segregation of duties
concerns?

mailto:melodydavis619@gmail.com
mailto:oxfordclerk@goeaston.net
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 


Commissioners of Oxford 
Town of Oxford, Maryland 
Oxford, Maryland 


Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 


Opinions 


We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, and each major fund of the Town of Oxford, Maryland (“the Town”) as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Town’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.   


In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, and each major 
fund of the Town as of June 30, 2022, and the respective changes in financial position and, where 
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 


Basis for Opinions 


We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report.  We are required to be independent of the Town, and to meet our 
other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 


Emphasis of Matter 


As discussed in Note 8 to the financial statements, the Town adopted a new health insurance 
reimbursement plan effective July 1, 2021.   Also, as discussed in Note 11 to the financial statements, 
during the year ended June 30, 2022, the Town determined that accrued vacation was not properly 
reported and an adjustment was made, and the Town also adopted new accounting guidance from the 
Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87, “Leases”. Our opinion is not 
modified with respect to these matters. 


An Independent Member of Urbach Hacker Young International Limited 
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Town’s ability to continue 
as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently 
known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinions.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Misstatements are considered material if there is 
a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made 
by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.  
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards, we: 
 


 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 


due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. 


 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 


procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control.  Accordingly, no such opinion 
is expressed. 


 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 


significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 


 
 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the 


aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Town’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 


 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Required Supplementary Information 


Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis and required supplementary information (RSI), as listed in the 
table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the RSI in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing 
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or 
provide any assurance. 


Supplementary information 


Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements. The other supplementary information 
(OSI), as listed in the table of contents, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a 
required part of the basic financial statements.  The OSI, as listed in the table of contents is the 
responsibility of management and has been derived from and relate directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has 
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and 
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the OSI, as listed in the table of 
contents is fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.  


Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 


In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 
28, 2022 on our consideration of the Town’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters.  The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Town’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 


Salisbury, Maryland 
December 28, 2022 
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The Town of Oxford, Maryland 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 


This section of the Town of Oxford, Maryland’s (the Town) annual financial report presents our 
discussion and analysis of the Town’s financial performance during the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2022.  We encourage readers to consider the discussion and analysis along with the other information 
in this report, including the notes to the financial statements.  In this section, we have provided an 
overview of the basic financial statements, selected condensed financial data and highlights, and 
analysis of the Town’s financial position and changes in financial position.   


OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


The financial statements provide two views of the Town’s financial position.  On the government-wide 
statements, the statements summarize all Town funds into one statement using the full accrual method 
of accounting.   


 Statement of Net Position provides information on assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred
inflows and the difference, which is called net position.  Over time increases and decreases in
net position can serve as a barometer of financial health.  The Statement of Net Position is
similar to a balance sheet in private sector accounting.


 Statement of Activities is revenues and expenses that report the underlying cause of the change
in net position.  All changes in net position are reported as the change occurs.  This means the
statement includes depreciation on the assets.  This statement does not report any capital
projects.  Capital projects are reported on the Statement of Net Position.


Fund Focus - A fund is defined as a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over 
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives.  Funds are used to ensure 
compliance with finance-related legal or regulatory compliance.  Funds are classified as either 
governmental funds, proprietary funds or fiduciary funds (The Town has no fiduciary funds). 


 Governmental funds are essentially the same as the governmental activities. Governmental
funds facilitate cost allocation of centralized services such as building maintenance, street
repair, accounting, printing, office equipment, engineering services, etc.


 Governmental funds use a modified accrual basis of accounting.  Governmental funds focus on
near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources and on the balances of spendable
resources.  In the governmental statements, the accounting for items such as capital outlay,
depreciation, debt payments, and accrued vacation is different than in the government-wide
statements.  In government funds, capital outlay and debt principal are reported on the
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance.  Depreciation is not
recorded.  The rule for reporting accrued vacation is more restrictive.  The Balance Sheet for
governmental funds does not include any capital assets or long-term debt.


Major Funds - Major funds are the largest funds in terms of assets, liabilities, revenues or expenses. 
This allows the reader to see more detailed activities of the Major Funds.  For the Town the following 
funds meet this requirement: 


 General
 Water, Sewer, and Stormwater Fund
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Proprietary funds use a full accrual method of accounting for both government-wide statements and 
fund level statements.  The Town has one proprietary fund. 
 
Enterprise funds are used to report business like activities.  These funds charge a fee for their services.  
The Town uses enterprise funds for water, sewer, and stormwater.  All enterprise funds qualify as major 
funds. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements follow immediately after the basic financial statements.  These notes 
are an integral part of the financial statements.  The notes contain many additional disclosures about 
the financial health of the Town. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 


 Governmental activities net position decreased by $265,915. 
 


 Business-type activities net position increased by $994,062. 
 


 The Town’s General Fund fund balance increased by $50,725. 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TOWN AS A WHOLE 
 
Net position 


%
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 Change


Current and other assets 2,271,509$    1,771,446$   3,519,196$     1,779,872$     5,790,705$     3,551,318$     63%
Capital assets 2,425,547      2,613,178     21,874,495     21,643,672     24,300,042     24,256,850     0%
Total assets 4,697,056      4,384,624     25,393,691     23,423,544     30,090,747     27,808,168     8%


Deferred outflows 248,587         143,167        -                      -                      248,587          143,167          74%


Other liabilities 330,077         62,878          641,395          133,718          971,472          196,596          394%
Long-term debt 2,981             -                    3,320,193       2,851,785       3,323,174       2,851,785       17%
Net pension liability 508,344         736,113        -                      -                      508,344          736,113          -31%
Net OPEB liability 184,011         -                    -                      -                      184,011          -                      100%
Total liabilities 1,025,413      798,991        3,961,588       2,985,503       4,987,001       3,784,494       32%


Deferred inflows 748,454         291,109        -                      -                      748,454          291,109          157%


Net investment in
capital assets 2,422,566      2,613,178     18,554,302     18,791,887     20,976,868     21,405,065     -2%


Unrestricted 749,210         824,513        2,877,801       1,646,154       3,627,011       2,470,667       47%
Total net position 3,171,776$    3,437,691$   21,432,103$   20,438,041$   24,603,879$   23,875,732$   3%


Town's Net Position


Governmental Business-type 


Activities Activities Total


 
 The Town’s combined net position was $24,603,879, consisting of $20,976,868 net investment 


in capital assets and $3,627,011 of unrestricted net position.  
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Changes in net position 
 


 Net position of the Town’s governmental activities decreased by $265,915 to $3,171,776. 
 Net position of the Town’s business-type activities increased by $994,062 to $21,432,103.   
 The Town’s total revenues were $3,543,742.  This was a 26% increase from the previous year primarily 


due to grant funding for various water and sewer projects.  
 The cost of all services increased by 23% to $2,815,595. 


 


%
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 Change


Revenues
Program Revenues:


Charges for services 146,708$        78,137$             1,011,148$    1,028,492$    1,157,856$    1,106,629$    5%
Operating grants 17,297            16,191               -                     -                     17,297           16,191           7%
Capital grants -                      5,251                 1,033,373      496,836         1,033,373      502,087         106%


General Revenues:
Property taxes 904,762          902,865             -                     -                     904,762         902,865         0%
Other taxes 362,587          271,090             -                     -                     362,587         271,090         34%
Investment and other 67,443            14,868               424                3,900             67,867           18,768           262%


Total revenues 1,498,797       1,288,402          2,044,945      1,529,228      3,543,742      2,817,630      26%


Expenses
General government 815,416          618,121             -                     -                     815,416         618,121         32%
Public safety 236,853          260,053             -                     -                     236,853         260,053         -9%
Public works 571,623          375,095             -                     -                     571,623         375,095         52%
Parks and recreation 137,585          140,738             -                     -                     137,585         140,738         -2%
Water -                      -                         332,253         298,666         332,253         298,666         11%
Sewer -                      -                         529,288         388,939         529,288         388,939         36%
SMSP -                      -                         158,759         165,554         158,759         165,554         -4%
Bay restoration fee -                      -                         33,818           34,916           33,818           34,916           -3%


Total expenses 1,761,477       1,394,007          1,054,118      888,075         2,815,595      2,282,082      23%


Excess (deficiency)
before transfers (262,680)         (105,605)            990,827         641,153         728,147         535,548         36%


Transfers in (out) (3,235)             -                         3,235             -                     -                     -                     


Change in net position (265,915)         (105,605)            994,062         641,153         728,147         535,548         36%


Net position, beginning of
year (as restated) 3,437,691       3,543,296          20,438,041    19,796,888    23,875,732    23,340,184    2%


Net position end of year 3,171,776$     3,437,691$        21,432,103$  20,438,041$  24,603,879$  23,875,732$  3%


Changes in Net Position


Governmental Business-type 


Activities Activities Total


Governmental Activities  
 


Revenues from the Town’s governmental activities increased by $210,395 or 16% from the prior year. 
 
Expenses from the Town’s governmental activities increased by $367,470 or 26% from the prior year.  
This increase is primarily related to the new retiree health reimbursement plan effective July 1, 2021.  
See more information in Note 8. 
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Business-type Activities  
 
Revenues from the Town’s business-type activities increased by $515,717 or 34% from the prior year.  
This is mostly attributable to grant fund revenues related to the completion of the wastewater treatment 
plant upgrade and the Morris St. watermain replacement project. 
 
Expenses from the Town’s business-type activities increased by $166,043 or 19% from the prior year. 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TOWN’S FUNDS 
 
 As the Town completed the year, the general fund reported a fund balance of $1,472,294, an 


increase of $50,725 from the prior year. 
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
 Revenues were over budget by $102,066, which is mostly attributable to intergovernmental 


revenues being over-budget by $58,748 and miscellaneous revenues being over-budget by 
$56,917. 
 


 Total expenditures were under budget by $118,063 mostly attributable to general government 
expenditures being under budget by $65,547 and capital outlay expenditures being under budget 
by $61,669. 


 
CAPITAL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital and Intangible Assets 
 
At the end of 2022, the Town had a net investment of $24,300,042 in a broad range of capital and 
intangible assets, including land, equipment, buildings, vehicles, and water and sewer systems. 
 
More detailed information about the Town’s capital assets is presented in Note 4. 


 


2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021


Land 411,332$        411,332$        -$                    -$                    411,332$        411,332$        
Construction in progress -                      301,578          178,642          19,432,166     178,642          19,733,744     
Buildings 1,639,914       1,341,571       -                      -                      1,639,914       1,341,571       
Equipment 330,140          363,493          1,598,051       1,644,661       1,928,191       2,008,154       
Improvements 1,818,897       1,818,897       23,079,655     3,342,661       24,898,552     5,161,558       
Vehicles 295,127          294,137          156,300          106,300          451,427          400,437          
Right-to-use asset 3,465              -                      -                      -                      3,465              -                      


Total 4,498,875       4,531,008       25,012,648     24,525,788     29,511,523     29,056,796     
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (2,073,328)      (1,917,830)      (3,138,153)      (2,882,116)      (5,211,481)      (4,799,946)      


Net capital and intangible assets 2,425,547$     2,613,178$     21,874,495$   21,643,672$   24,300,042$   24,256,850$   


Town's Capital and Intangible Assets


Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities Total
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Long Term Debt 
 
At the end of 2022, the Town had $3,831,518 in bonds, notes, and leases outstanding, and net pension 
liability.   
 
More detailed information about the Town’s bonds and notes payable is presented in Note 5. 
 
More detailed information about the Town’s net pension liability is presented in Note 7. 


 


2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021


Water tower -$                   -$                   155,717$       168,412$       155,717$       168,412$       
Arsenic removal -                     -                     191,842         238,911         191,842         238,911         
Wastewater upgrade loan No. 2 -                     -                     472,864         481,892         472,864         481,892         
Wastewater upgrade - extension -                     -                     651,447         82,415           651,447         82,415           
Wastewater upgrade loan No. 1 -                     -                     1,848,323      1,880,155      1,848,323      1,880,155      
Right-to-use lease 2,981             -                     -                     -                     2,981             -                     
Net pension liability 508,344         736,113         -                     -                     508,344         736,113         
Net OPEB liability 184,011         -                     -                     -                     184,011         -                     


Total long-term debt 695,336$       736,113$       3,320,193$    2,851,785$    4,015,529$    3,587,898$    


Town's Long Term Debt


Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities Total


 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET AND RATES 
 


 The Town's Governmental Fund total revenues for FY 2022 demonstrate an increase over 
Fiscal Year 2021, mostly attributed to an increase in income taxes as found in General Other 
Taxes and a realignment of land lease income on Town properties as found in Charges for 
Services. Governmental Fund expenses for FY 2022 demonstrated an increase over Fiscal 
Year 2021, mostly attributed to a significant street repaving project. The Governmental Fund 
Balance continues to have sufficient reserves at this time. 


 For Fiscal Year 2023, the town has General Fund budgeted capital expenditures for additional 
repaving and sidewalk replacement, along with the multi-grant funded major shoreline 
restoration project.  


 The Town's Enterprise Funds or Business-Type Funds collected for Water and Sewer services 
demonstrated a slight loss this year.  For this reason and to allow for future funding of major 
equipment repairs and replacement, the Town approved a 3% rate increase for FY 2023.  The 
Town will continue to consider annual increases to cover necessary operational costs. The 
Enterprise charge for services revenues decreased slightly due to a realignment of land lease 
income on Town properties. Two large infrastructure projects, the Wastewater Treatment Plant 
upgrade and the Morris Street Water Main, were completed and the Town’s cumulative Sewer 
long-term debt is approximately $3,320,000. It is anticipated that Sewer rates will increase 
annually to assist in retiring this debt service.  


 For FY 2023 the start of a major Water Improvement Project is scheduled, with anticipated grant 
funding of $2,102,000 and long-term debt service of $2,572,000 at completion.  Annual Water 
rate increases are anticipated to service this debt and provide reserves for maintenance. 
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Additionally, the town intends to use the $600,000 American Recovery Plan Funds received to 
support resilience improvements to Stormwater Infrastructure.  


 The Town of Oxford's budgeted revenues provide a sufficient level of anticipated services to the 
community and the Town has suitable surplus for any planned or emergency capital 
expenditures. The prior addition of the Stormwater Management/Shoreline Protection Enterprise 
Fund with dedicated revenues has continued this fiscal responsibility by planning for and 
implementing infrastructure improvements to provide the community protection from stormwater 
and significant tidal impacts. The Town has been successful in recent years in acquiring 
additional funding from both State and Federal opportunities in order to identify and improve 
necessary infrastructure in support of this effort and will continue this effort. 


CONTACTING THE TOWN’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The Town’s Financial Statements are designed to present the users (citizens, taxpayers, customers, 
and creditors) with a general overview of the Town’s finances and to demonstrate the Town’s 
accountability. If you have any questions about the report or need additional financial information, 
please put your request in writing to the attention of the Town Manager - Town of Oxford, PO Box 339, 
Oxford, Maryland, 21654. 
 
 
 







Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total


ASSETS
Cash 1,766,023$    2,337,763$     4,103,786$    
Accounts receivable, net of allowance 36,348           416,915          453,263         
Grants receivable -                 764,518          764,518         
Lease receivable 469,138         -                 469,138         
Nondepreciable capital assets 411,332         178,642          589,974         
Capital and intangible assets, net 2,014,215      21,695,853     23,710,068    


Total assets 4,697,056      25,393,691     30,090,747    


DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pensions 248,587         -                 248,587         


LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 31,544           641,395          672,939         
Unearned revenue - ARPA 298,533         -                 298,533         
Long-term liabilities, due within one year


Lease payable - right to use 665                -                 665                
Bonds and notes payable -                 124,418          124,418         


Long-term liabilities, due in more than one year
Lease payable - right to use 2,316             -                 2,316             
Bonds and notes payable -                 3,195,775       3,195,775      


Net pension liability 508,344         -                 508,344         
Post-employment health care benefits payable 184,011         -                 184,011         


Total liabilities 1,025,413      3,961,588       4,987,001      


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Lease receivable - right to use 416,959         -                 416,959         
Pensions 331,495         -                 331,495         


Total deferred inflows of resources 748,454         -                 748,454         


NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 2,422,566      18,554,302     20,976,868    
Unrestricted 749,210         2,877,801       3,627,011      


Total net position 3,171,776$    21,432,103$   24,603,879$  


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND


June 30, 2022
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION


The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. Page 10







Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type


Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total


Governmental activities
General government 815,416$     146,708$     6,160$         -$                (662,548)$   -$                  (662,548)$      
Public safety 236,853       -                  11,137         -                  (225,716)     -                    (225,716)        
Public works 571,623       -                  -                  -                  (571,623)     -                    (571,623)        
Parks and recreation 137,585       -                  -                  -                  (137,585)     -                    (137,585)        


Total governmental activities 1,761,477    146,708       17,297         -                  (1,597,472)  -                    (1,597,472)     


Business-type activities
Water 332,253       335,476       -                  600,724       -                  603,947         603,947         
Sewer 529,288       506,419       -                  410,395       -                  387,526         387,526         
SMSP 158,759       133,500       -                  22,254         -                  (3,005)           (3,005)           
Bay restoration fee 33,818         35,753         -                  -                  -                  1,935             1,935             


Total business-type activitie 1,054,118    1,011,148    -                  1,033,373    -                  990,403         990,403         
Total   2,815,595$  1,157,856$  17,297$       1,033,373$  (1,597,472)  990,403         (607,069)        


General revenues
Property taxes 904,762       -                    904,762         
Intergovernmental 362,587       -                    362,587         
Investment income 5,026           424                5,450             
Other 62,417         -                    62,417           


Total general revenues 1,334,792    424                1,335,216      
Transfers  in (out) (3,235)         3,235             -                    
Change in net position (265,915)     994,062         728,147         
Net position, beginning of year, as restated 3,437,691    20,438,041    23,875,732    


Net position, end of year 3,171,776$  21,432,103$  24,603,879$  


Changes in Net Position


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended June 30, 2022


Program Revenues Net (Expenses) Revenues and


The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. Page 11







General
Fund


ASSETS
Cash 1,766,023$     
Accounts receivable, net of allowance 36,348            


Total assets 1,802,371$     


LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
 


LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 31,544$          
Unearned revenue 298,533


Total liabilities 330,077          


FUND BALANCES
Assigned 76,327            
Unassigned 1,395,967       


Total fund balances 1,472,294       


Total liabilities and fund balances 1,802,371$     


June 30, 2022


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND
BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 


The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. Page 12







Total fund balances, governmental funds 1,472,294$  


Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position
are different because:


Certain assets used in governmental activities are not financial 
resources and are therefore not reported in the fund financial statements, but 
are reported in the governmental activities of the Statement of Net Position.


Capital assets 2,422,602    
Intangible right-to-use asset 2,945           
Lease receivable 469,138       


Deferred outflow of resources:
Pensions 248,587       


Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore
are not reported in the funds


Right-to-use lease payable (2,981) 
Net pension liability (508,344) 
Post-employment health care benefits payable (184,011) 


Deferred inflows of resources:
Lease receivable - right to use (416,959) 
Pensions (331,495) 


Net position of governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position 3,171,776$  


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2022


The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. Page 13







General
Fund


REVENUES:
Property taxes 904,762$        
Intergovernmental 362,587          
Licenses and permits 27,143            
Other agencies 17,296            
Rents 119,566          
Investment income 5,026              
Miscellaneous 62,417            


Total revenues 1,498,797       


EXPENDITURES:
Current:
General government 568,003          
Public safety 225,806          
Public works 534,727          
Parks and recreation 108,870          


Capital outlay 14,131            


Total expenditures 1,451,537       


Excess of revenues over expenditures 47,260            


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Proceeds from long-term leases 3,465              


Total other financing sources (uses) 3,465              


Net change in fund balance 50,725            


Fund balance, beginning of year, as restated 1,421,569       


Fund balance, end of year 1,472,294$     


Year Ended June 30, 2022


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND
BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUND


The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. Page 14







STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES


Net change in fund balances, governmental funds 50,725$          


Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
are different because:


Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the Statement
of Activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and
reported as depreciation expense.  In the current period, these amounts are:


Capital outlay 10,666            
Transfer of capital asset to enterprise fund (3,235)          
Depreciation and amortization expense (198,007)         


Leased equipment 3,465              
Intangible right-to-use asset amortization (520)                


Lease receivable payments received are revenue in the governmental funds
but reduce the receivable in the statement of net position


Lease receivable 182,139     
Deferred inflow - lease receivable (181,864)   


Repayment of long-term leases are expenditures in the governmental funds,
but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position


Proceeds from lease liability (3,465)             
Lease leability 484            


Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures
in governmental funds


Change in deferred outflow of resources - pensions 105,420     
Change in deferred inflows of resources - pensions (275,481)   
Change in net pension liability 227,769     
Change in post-employment health care benefits ("OPEB") (184,011)   


Change in net position of governmental activities (265,915)$       


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES


Year Ended June 30, 2022


The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. Page 15







Enterprise Fund
ASSETS


Current assets
Cash 2,337,763$     
Accounts receivable 416,915          
Grants receivable 764,518


Total current assets 3,519,196       
Noncurrent assets  
Nondepreciable capital assets 178,642          
Depreciable capital assets, net 21,695,853


Total noncurrent assets 21,874,495     
 


Total assets 25,393,691$   
 


LIABILITIES  
Current liabilities  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 641,395$        
Current maturities of long-term debt 124,418          


Total current liabilities 765,813          


Noncurrent liabilities  
Long-term debt 3,195,775


Total noncurrent liabilities 3,195,775       
 


Total liabilities 3,961,588       
 


NET POSITION  
Net investment in capital assets 18,554,302     
Unrestricted 2,877,801       


 
Total net position 21,432,103$   


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND
STATEMENT OF FUND NET POSITION - BUSINESS TYPE ACTIVITES
June 30, 2022


The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. Page 16







Enterprise Fund
OPERATING REVENUES:


Water service charges 335,476$        
Wastewater service charges 506,419          
SMSP service charges 133,500          
Bay restoration fee 35,753            


Total operating revenues 1,011,148       


OPERATING EXPENSES:
Water 332,253          
Sewer 529,288          
SMSP 158,759          
Bay restoration fee 33,818            


Total operating expenses 1,054,118       


Operating loss (42,970)          


NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Intergovernmental revenues 1,033,373       
Capital asset transferred from general fund 3,235              
Investment income 424                 


Total nonoperating revenues 1,037,032       


Change in net position 994,062          


Net position, beginning of year, as restated 20,438,041     


Net position, end of year 21,432,103$   


Year Ended June 30, 2022


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET 
POSITION - BUSINESS TYPE ACTIVITIES


The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. Page 17







Enterprise Fund
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Receipts from customers 843,714$        
Payments to suppliers (413,454)         
Payments to employees (333,518)         
Other receipts 514,302          


Net cash provided by operating activities 611,044          


CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal paid on long-term debt (716,740)         
Proceeds from long-term debt 1,185,148       
Acquisition of capital assets (541,359)         
Net receipts from capital grants and financing 1,201,541       


Net cash provided by capital and related financing activities 1,128,590       


CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest income 424                 


Net cash provided by investing activities 424                 


Net increase in cash 1,740,058       


Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 597,705          


Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 2,337,763$     


RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH
PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating loss (42,970)$         
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation 313,771          
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Increase in receivables (167,434)         
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses 507,677          
     Net cash provided by operating activities 611,044$        


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Year Ended June 30, 2022


The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. Page 18
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Note 1.  Description of The Town of Oxford 
 
The Town of Oxford, Maryland (“the Town”) was incorporated in 1694, under the provisions of the State 
of Maryland.  The Town operates under a Commissioner form of government and provides the following 
services as authorized by its charter:  general administrative services, public safety, public works and 
recreation.  Other services include water, sewer, and stormwater (SMSP) operations. 
 
Note 2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The financial statements of the Town have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to local government units.  The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental 
accounting and financial principles.  The most significant of the Town’s accounting policies are 
described below. 
 
A.  Basis of Presentation 
 
The Town’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a statement of 
net position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements, which provide a more detailed 
level of financial information. 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the Town as a 
whole.  These statements include the financial activities of the Town.  The statements distinguish 
between those activities of the Town that are governmental and those that are considered business-
type activities. 
 
The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental and business-type 
activities of the Town at year-end.  The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct 
expenses and program revenues for each program or function of the Town’s governmental activities 
and for business-type activities of the Town.  Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated 
with a service, program or department, and therefore, clearly identifiable to a particular function.  
Program revenues include charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services offered by the 
program, grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements 
of a particular program and interest earned on grants that is required to be used to support a particular 
program.  Revenues which are not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues 
of the Town, with certain limited exceptions.  The comparison of direct expenses with program 
revenues identifies the extent to which each business segment or governmental function is self-
financing or draws from general revenues of the Town. 
 
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
During the year, the Town segregates transactions related to certain Town functions or activities in 
separate funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal compliance.  Fund 
financial statements are designed to present financial information of the Town at a more detailed level.  
The focus of governmental and enterprise fund financial statements is on major funds.  Each major 
fund is presented in a separate column.  Non-major funds are aggregated and presented in a single 
column.  The Town has no non-major funds. 
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Note 2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 


B. Fund Accounting


The Town uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year.  A fund is defined as a fiscal and 
accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts.  There are three categories of funds: 
governmental, proprietary and fiduciary.  The Town has no fiduciary funds. 


GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 


Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions typically are financed. 
Governmental fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses and balances of current financial resources. 
Expendable assets are assigned to the various governmental funds according to the purpose for which 
they may or must be used.  Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which they will be paid.  The 
difference between governmental fund assets and liabilities is reported as fund balance.  The following 
is the Town’s only governmental fund: 


General Fund - The general fund is the general operating fund of the Town.  All general revenues and 
other receipts that are not allocated by law or contractual agreement to another fund and general 
operating expenditures are accounted for in this fund. 


PROPRIETARY FUNDS 


Proprietary funds focus on the determination of changes in net position, financial position and cash 
flows and are classified as enterprise. 


Enterprise fund – Enterprise funds may be used to account for any activity for which a fee is charged to 
external users for goods or services.  The Town’s major enterprise fund is: 


Water, Sewer, and Stormwater Fund - The water, sewer, and stormwater fund is used to 
account for all financial transactions, including the acquisition or construction of major capital 
facilities, related to the operations of the Town’s water, sewer, and stormwater services. 


C. Measurement Focus


Government-wide financial statements – The government-wide financial statements are prepared using 
the economic resources measurement focus.  All assets and liabilities associated with the operation of 
the Town are included on the statement of net position. 


Fund financial statements – All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current financial 
resources measurement focus.  With this measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities 
generally are included on the balance sheet.  The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in 
fund balances reports on the sources (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and uses (i.e., 
expenditures and other financing uses) of current financial resources.  This approach differs from the 
manner in which the governmental activities of the government-wide financial statements are prepared. 
Governmental fund financial statements therefore include a reconciliation with brief explanations to 
better identify the relationship between the government-wide statements and the statements for 
governmental funds. 
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Note 2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
C.  Measurement Focus (continued) 
 
Like the government-wide statements, all proprietary funds are accounted for on a flow of economic 
resources measurement focus.  All assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these funds 
are included on the statement of net position.  The statement of changes in fund net position presents 
increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in total net position.  The statement of cash 
flows provides information about how the Town finances and meets the cash flow needs of its 
proprietary activities. 
 
D.  Basis of Accounting 
 
Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and reported on 
the financial statements.  Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis 
of accounting.  Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Proprietary and 
fiduciary funds also use the accrual basis of accounting.  Differences in the accrual and the modified 
accrual basis of accounting arise in the recognition of revenue, the recording of deferred revenue, and 
in the presentation of expenses versus expenditures.  The Town has no fiduciary funds. 
 
Revenues - Exchange and Non-exchange Transactions – Revenue resulting from exchange 
transactions, in which each party gives and receives essentially equal value, is recorded on the accrual 
basis when the exchange takes place.  On a modified accrual basis, revenue is recorded in the fiscal 
year in which the resources are measurable and become available.  Available means that the 
resources will be collected within the current fiscal year or are expected to be collected soon enough 
thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current fiscal year.  The available period for the Town is 
defined as collected within 60 days subsequent to year end. 
 
Non-exchange transactions, in which the Town receives value without directly giving equal value in 
return, include primarily grants.  Revenue from grants is recognized in the fiscal year in which all 
eligibility requirements have been satisfied.  Eligibility requirements include timing requirements, which 
specify the year when the resources are required to be used or the year when use is first permitted, 
matching requirements, in which the Town must provide local resources to be used for a specified 
purpose, and expenditure requirements, in which the resources are provided to the Town on a 
reimbursable basis.  On a modified accrual basis, revenue from non-exchange transactions must also 
be available before it can be recognized. 
 
Under the modified accrual basis, the following revenue sources are considered both measurable and 
available at year end: charges for services, interest and licenses and permits. 
 
Deferred Outflows / Inflows of Resources – In addition to assets, the statement of financial position 
and/or balance sheet will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This 
separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net 
position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 
(expense/expenditure) until then. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position and/or balance sheet will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred 
inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will 
not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. 
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Note 2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
D.  Basis of Accounting (continued) 
 
See pension plan footnote for further details relating to the deferred outflows / inflows of resources, as 
recorded on the statement of net position, relating to the Town’s pension plan. 
 
Grant Receivables/Unearned Revenue – The Town records receivables when the applicable eligibility 
requirements including time requirements are met.  Related revenues are recognized to the extent that 
cash is expected to be received within one year of year-end.  Resources received before the eligibility 
requirements are met are reported as unearned revenue. 
 
Expenses/Expenditures – On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they 
are incurred.  The fair value of donated assets during the year is reported in the operating statement as 
an expense with a like amount reported as donated revenue.  The measurement focus of governmental 
fund accounting is on decreases in net financial resources (expenditures) rather than expenses.  
Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in which the related fund liability is 
incurred, if measurable.  Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and amortization, are not recognized 
in governmental funds. 
 
E.  Budgetary Data 
 
Budgetary control is exercised in all funds.  The budget shown in the financial statements is the budget 
ordinance approved for fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.  The Commissioners approve all 
expenditures.  Once approved, the Commissioners may amend the legally adopted budget when 
unexpected modifications are required in estimated revenues and expenditures/expense. 
 
The annual budget of the General Fund is prepared in accordance with the basis of accounting utilized 
by that fund.  The budget for the proprietary fund is adopted under a governmental basis, showing 
capital outlay, debt service, and non-operating income and expense items. 
 
F. Cash Equivalents 
 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the proprietary fund considers all highly liquid 
investments with an original maturity of one year or less to be cash equivalents. 
 
G.  Property Tax 
 
The Town’s real property tax is levied each July 1 on the assessed values certified as of that date for all 
taxable real property located in the Town.  The Maryland State Department of Assessments and 
Taxation (SDAT) establishes assessed values at predetermined percentages of estimated market 
value.  Payments are due by September 30.  Beginning October 1, interest is charged each month on 
taxes that remain unpaid.  Property represented by delinquent taxes is sold at public auction in June.  
The Talbot County Treasurer’s office collects the Town’s real property taxes along with county real 
property taxes.  Collections are remitted to the Town on a monthly basis. 
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Note 2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 


H. Receivables, Interfund Receivables/Payables, and Transfers In/Out


Receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts.  Allowances for uncollectible 
accounts were $1,264 for the year ended June 30, 2022.  This amount relates to short-term loans.  All 
other receivables are current and due within one year. 


On fund financial statements, receivables and payables resulting from short-term interfund loans or 
interfund services provided and used are classified as “Interfund Receivables/Payables.”  Interfund 
balances within governmental activities and within business-type activities are eliminated on the 
government-wide statement of net position.  The only interfund balances which remain on the 
government-wide statement of net position are those between governmental and business-type 
activities.  These amounts are reflected as “Internal Balances.” 


Interfund transfers in/out are classified in other financing (uses) sources in the statement of revenues, 
expenditures and changes in fund balances and in nonoperating revenues (expenses) in the statement 
of revenues, expenses and changes in fund net position. 


I. Capital Assets


General capital assets are those assets not specifically related to activities reported in proprietary 
funds.  These assets generally result from expenditures in the governmental funds.  These assets are 
reported in the governmental activities column of the government-wide statement of net position but are 
not reported in the fund financial statements.  Capital assets utilized by the proprietary funds are 
reported both in the business-type activities column of the government-wide statement of net position 
and in the respective funds. 


All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical costs) and updated for additions and 
retirements during the year.  Donated fixed assets are recorded at their fair market values as of the 
date received.  The Town maintains a capitalization threshold of $2,500.  Improvements are capitalized; 
the costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add value to the asset or materially extend an 
asset’s life are not. 


All reported capital assets except land and construction in progress are depreciated.  Improvements are 
depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets.  Depreciation is computed 
using the straight-line method over the following useful lives: 


Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
Useful Lives Useful Lives


Land n/a n/a
Construction in progress n/a n/a
Buildings 5 - 40 n/a
Improvements 10 - 25 7 - 40
Vehicles 3 - 10 5 - 10
Equipment 3 - 10 3 - 40
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Note 2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
J.  Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations 
 
All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government–wide 
statements, and all payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations payable from proprietary 
funds are reported on the proprietary fund financial statements. 
 
In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely 
manner and in full from current financial resources, are reported as obligations of the funds.  However, 
claims and judgments and compensated absences that will be paid from governmental funds are 
reported as a liability in the fund financial statements only to the extent that they are due for payment 
during the current year. 
 
K.  Net Position 
 
Net position represents the net amount of assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources.  Invested in capital assets, net of related debt consists of capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, reduced by outstanding balances of any borrowings used for the acquisition, 
construction, or improvement of those assets.  Restricted components of net position are reported 
when there are limitations imposed on their use either through enabling legislation or through external 
restrictions imposed by grantors, contributors, creditors, or laws and regulations of other governments. 
 
The Town applies restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both 
restricted and unrestricted resources are available. 
 
L.  Governmental Fund Balances 
 
In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balances are classified as follows: 
 
Nonspendable – Amounts that cannot be spent either because they are in a nonspendable form or 
because they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
 
Restricted – Amounts that can only be spent for specific purposes because of the Town charter or 
code, state or federal laws, or externally imposed conditions by grantors or creditors. 
 
Committed – Amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by formal action by the 
Town Council ordinance or resolutions. 
 
Assigned – Amounts that are designated by the Council or management with intent to be used for 
specific purposes, but are neither restricted or committed by ordinance or resolution. 
 
Unassigned – Amounts not included in other spendable classifications. 
 
The Town uses restricted fund balance first, followed by committed resources, and then assigned 
resources, as appropriate opportunities arise, but reserves the right to selectively spend unassigned 
resources first to defer the use of these other classified funds. 
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Note 2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
M.  Operating Revenues and Expenses 
 
Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from the primary activity of the 
proprietary funds.  For the Town, these revenues are charges for services for water and sewer 
activities.  Operating expenses are necessary costs incurred to provide the good or service that is the 
primary activity of the fund.  Revenues and expenses not meeting these definitions are reported as 
non-operating. 
 
N.  Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and 
accompanying notes.  Actual results may differ from those estimates. 
 
O. Capitalized Interest 
 
Interest costs are capitalized when incurred by proprietary funds where proceeds were used to finance 
the construction of assets. 
 
Note 3.  Cash 
 
The Town is authorized to invest unexpended revenues from taxation, lawful distributions of funds from 
other governmental agencies, or any other funds properly received by it, until it determines the funds 
are needed for proper public purpose.  The Town can invest such funds in federally insured banking 
institutions that pledge United States Treasury bills, notes, or other obligations to secure such deposits 
and the Maryland Local Government Investment Pool. 
 
At June 30, 2022, the Town had bank deposits with various financial institutions totaling $4,177,783 
(carrying value $4,103,786).  As required by law, a depository is required to pledge securities, in 
addition to FDIC insurance, at least equal to the amount on deposit at all times.  The depository bank 
pledges collateral for specific accounts, which are held in the Town’s name by their trust department or 
agents.  As of June 30, 2022 all deposits were fully insured or collateralized. 
 
As of June 30, 2022, the Town has no investments therefore the Town has no credit risk. 
 
Cash is designated as follows: 


Checking 3,173,549$  
Certificate of deposit 852,387       
Town House fund 59,368         
Other 18,482         


Total Cash 4,103,786$  
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Note 4.  Capital and Intangible Assets 
 
The following is a summary of changes in capital and intangible assets for the year ended June 30, 
2022: 


June 30, 2021 Additions
Transfers / 
Deductions June 30, 2022


GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
Capital assets, not being depreciated:


Land 411,332$        -$                   -$                   411,332$        
Construction in progress 301,578          -                     (301,578)        -                     


Total capital assets, not being depreciated 712,910          -                     (301,578)        411,332          


Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings 1,341,571       -                     298,343          1,639,914       
Equipment 363,493          9,676              (43,029)          330,140          
Improvements 1,818,897       -                     -                     1,818,897       
Vehicles 294,137          990                 -                     295,127          


Total capital assets, being depreciated 3,818,098       10,666            255,314          4,084,078       


Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings (661,684)        (54,199)          -                     (715,883)        
Equipment (278,631)        (24,856)          43,029            (260,458)        
Improvements (769,288)        (91,905)          -                     (861,193)        
Vehicles (208,227)        (27,047)          -                     (235,274)        


Total accumulated depreciation (1,917,830)     (198,007)        43,029            (2,072,808)     
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 1,900,268       (187,341)        298,343          2,011,270       


Intangible right-to-use assets:
Leased equipment -                     3,465              -                     3,465              
Less accumulated amortization -                     (520)               -                     (520)               


Total intangible right-to-use assets, net -                     2,945              -                     2,945              


Governmental activities capital and intangible 
assets, net 2,613,178$     (184,396)$      (3,235)$          2,425,547$     


 
Depreciation expense was charged to governmental functions as follows: 


General government 121,349$        
Public safety 11,047            
Public works 36,896            
Parks and recreation 28,715            


Total depreciation expense 198,007$        
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Note 4.  Capital Assets (continued) 


June 30, 2021 Additions
Transfers / 
Deductions June 30, 2022


BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Capital assets, not being depreciated:


Construction in progress 19,432,166$   20,492$          (19,274,016)$ 178,642$        
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 19,432,166     20,492            (19,274,016)   178,642          


Capital assets, being depreciated:
Equipment 1,644,661       11,124            (57,734)          1,598,051       
Improvements 3,342,661       459,743          19,277,251     23,079,655     
Vehicles 106,300          50,000            -                     156,300          


Total capital assets, being depreciated 5,093,622       520,867          19,219,517     24,834,006     


Less accumulated depreciation:
Equipment (1,122,908)     (72,133)          57,734            (1,137,307)     
Improvements (1,652,908)     (234,971)        -                     (1,887,879)     
Vehicles (106,300)        (6,667)            -                     (112,967)        


Total accumulated depreciation (2,882,116)     (313,771)        57,734            (3,138,153)     
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 2,211,506       207,096          19,277,251     21,695,853     


Business-type activities capital assets, net 21,643,672$   227,588$        3,235$            21,874,495$   


 
Construction in progress is as follows: 


Oxford Central Park - stormwater engineering 10,422$          
Strand Beach living shoreline 94,486            
Amphitheater - Oxford Community Park 29,083            
Water system - preliminary engineering 44,651            


Total 178,642$        
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Note 5.  Bonds and Notes Payable – Business-type Activities 
 
The following is a summary of the changes in the business-type activities long-term debt obligations: 


Balances Retirements Balances Amount
June 30, and June 30, Due in


2021 Additions Repayment 2022 One Year


Note payable - Water Tower:  $600,000 unsecured, 
maturing June 2030, interest at 4.85%.  Monthly 
principal and interest payment of $2,083.  The Town 
has made prepayments of principal on this loan.  $    168,412  $                -  $    12,695  $    155,717  $   12,060 


Note payable - Water arsenic removal: $757,668 
unsecured, maturing February 2027, no interest. 238,911       -                  47,069              191,842 47,069      


Total notes from direct borrowings 407,323       -                  59,764       347,559       59,129      


Bond payable - Wastewater Upgrade: $493,000 
unsecured, maturing January 2060, interest at 1.625%. 
Quarterly principal and interest payment of $4,201.


481,892                          - 9,028                472,864 9,152        


Bonds payable 2021A and 2021B - Water Main 
Replacement:  $1,349,978 unsecured, maturing 
February 2052, interest at 0.4%. Annual principal and 
interest payments of $26,537.  $674,989 2021A bond 
has been forgiven. 82,415         1,185,148    616,116            651,447 23,637      


Bond payable - Wastewater Upgrade: $1,964,000 
unsecured, maturing September 2058, interest at 
2.375%. Quarterly principal and interest payment of 
$19,051. 1,880,155    -                  31,832           1,848,323 32,500      


Total bonds 2,444,462    1,185,148    656,976     2,972,634    65,289      


Total Business-type
Long-Term Debt 2,851,785$  1,185,148$  716,740$   3,320,193$  124,418$  


The annual requirements to amortize all business-type activities debt outstanding as of June 30, 2022 
are as follows: 


Fiscal Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest


2023 65,289$       52,598$      59,129$                 8,168$               
2024 66,314         51,678        59,129                   7,583                 
2025 67,360         50,737        59,129                   6,998                 
2026 68,429         49,775        59,129                   6,413                 
2027 69,517         48,791        15,626                   5,828                 


2028 & thereafter 2,635,725    881,912      95,417                   14,588               


   TOTAL 2,972,634$  1,135,491$ 347,559$               49,578$             


Bonds Notes from Direct Borrowings


 
Interest expense in the business-type activities for the year ended June 30, 2022 totaled $63,983. 
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Note 6. Leases 
 
The Town implemented the guidance of GASB No. 87, Leases, at July 1, 2021 for accounting and 
reporting leases. 
 


Town as Lessee 
 
The Town, as a lessee, has entered into a lease agreement for a postage machine.  Payments under 
this lease total approximately $752 per year.  The lease agreement in place for the equipment began 
during fiscal year 2022 and will expire during fiscal year 2027.  For purposes of discounting future 
payments on this lease, the Town used its incremental borrowing rate in place at the time of lease 
inception of 3.25%.  The leased equipment and accumulated amortization of the right-to-use assets are 
outlined in Note 4. 


Balances Retirements Balances Amount
June 30, and June 30, Due in


Description 2021 Additions Repayments 2022 One Year


Lease Obligation -$                   3,465$           (484)$             2,981$           665$              


 
The future minimum lease payments are approximately as follows: 


Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
 Ending June 30,


2023 665$               87$              752$            
2024 687                 65                752              
2025 709                 43                752              
2026 733                 19                752              
2027 187                 1                  188              
Total 2,981$            215$            3,196$         


Equipment


 
Town as Lessor 


 
The Town, as a lessor, entered into a lease on March 1, 2003 for its yacht club property, annual initial 
rent payment of $15,000, increasing annually using the Consumer Price Index, until March 1, 2032. 
 
The Town, as a lessor, entered into a lease on January 1, 2021 for its bank property, monthly 
installments of $700, until December 31, 2023. 
 
The Town, as a lessor, entered into a lease on April 1, 2021 for its MEWS Building, monthly 
installments of $1,000, until March 31, 2051. 
 
The Town, as a lessor, entered into a lease on September 1, 2020 for its water tower, monthly 
installments of $2,011, until August 31, 2025, at which time there is an option to renew for an additional 
five year period. 
 
To rental income for the year ended June 30, 2022, related to the above leases, was approximately 
$65,000. 
 
The Town used its incremental borrowing rate in place at the time of loan inception to calculate the 
lease receivable of $469,138 as of June 30, 2022.  The rates range between 3.25% and 4.25%. 







TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 
 


Page 30 
 


Note 7.  Pension Plan 
 
Organization 
 
The State Retirement Agency (the Agency) is the administrator of the Maryland State Retirement and 
Pension System (the System).  The System was established by the State Personnel and Pensions 
Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland to provide retirement allowances and other benefits to State 
employees, teachers, police, judges, legislators, and employees of participating governmental units.  
Responsibility for the System’s administration and operation is vested in a 15 member Board of 
Trustees.  The System is made up of two cost-sharing employer pools: the “State Pool” and the 
“Municipal Pool”.  The State Pool consists of State agencies, boards of education, community colleges, 
and libraries.  The Municipal Pool consists of participating governmental units that elected to join the 
System.  Neither pool shares in each other’s actuarial liabilities, thus participating governmental units 
that elect to join the System (the “Municipal Pool”) share in the liabilities of the Municipal Pool only.  
The State Retirement Agency issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial 
statements and required supplementary information for the System.  That report may be obtained by 
writing to the State Retirement and Pension System of Maryland, 120 E. Baltimore Street, Suite 1660, 
Baltimore, Maryland 21202-1600 or on-line at www.sra.maryland.gov. 
 
The System is comprised of the Teachers’ Retirement and Pension Systems, Employees’ Retirement 
and Pension Systems, State Police Retirement System, Judges’ Retirement System, and the Law 
Enforcement Officers’ Pension System. 
 
Generally, employees of the Town participate in the Employees’ Retirement and Pension Systems 
(Employee’s Systems).  The Employees’ Systems are cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit 
pension plans. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The System’s financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  For purposes of measuring 
net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the System and 
additions to/deductions from the System’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same 
basis as they are reported by the System.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of 
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with benefit terms.  
Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Covered Members 
 
Employees’ Retirement and Pension Systems - On October 1, 1941, the Employees’ Retirement 
System was established to provide retirement allowances and other benefits to State employees, 
elected and appointed officials and the employees of participating governmental units.  Effective 
January 1, 1980, the Employees’ Retirement System was essentially closed to new members and the 
Employees’ Pension system was established.  As a result, State employees (other than correctional 
officers) and employees of participating governmental units hired after December 31, 1979, became 
members of the Employees’ Pension System as a condition of employment, while all State correctional 
officers and members of the Maryland General Assembly continue to be enrolled as members of the 
Employees’ Retirement System.  On or after January 1, 2005, an individual who is a member of the 
Employees’ Retirement System may not transfer membership to the Employees’ Pension System. 
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Note 7.  Pension Plan (continued) 
 
Summary of Significant Plan Provisions 
 
All plan benefits are specified by the State Personnel and Pensions Article of the Annotated Code of 
Maryland.  For all individuals who are members of the Employees’, Teachers’, Correctional Officers’ or 
State Police Retirement System on or before June 30, 2011, retirement allowances are computed using 
both the highest three years’ Average Final Compensation (AFC) and the actual number of years of 
accumulated creditable service.  For all individuals who are members of the pension systems of the 
State Retirement and Pension System on or before June 30, 2011, pension allowances are computed 
using both the highest three consecutive years’ AFC and the actual number of years of accumulated 
creditable service.  For any individual who becomes a member of one of the pension systems on or 
after July 1, 2011, pension allowances are computed using both the highest five consecutive year’s 
AFC and the actual number of years of accumulated creditable service.  Various retirement options are 
available under each system which ultimately determines how a retiree’s benefit allowance will be 
computed.  Some of these options require actuarial reductions based on the retiree’s and/or designated 
beneficiary’s attained age and similar actuarial factors. 
 
The member contribution rate for members of the Employees’ Pension Systems is 6%. 
 
In Addition, the benefit attributable to service on or after July 1, 2011 in many of the pension systems 
now will be subject to different cost-of-living adjustments (COLA) that is based on the increase in the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) and capped at 2.5% or 1.0% based on whether the market value 
investment return for the preceding calendar year was higher or lower than the investment return 
assumption used in the valuation. 
 
A brief summary of the retirement eligibility requirements of and the benefits available under the various 
systems in effect during fiscal year 2021 are as follows: 
 


Service Retirement Allowances 
 
A member of either the Teachers’ or Employees’ Retirement System is generally eligible for full 
retirement benefits upon the earlier of attaining age 60 or accumulating 30 years of creditable service 
regardless of age.  The annual retirement allowance equals 1/55 (1.81%) of the member’s AFC 
multiplied by the number of years of accumulated creditable service. 
 
An individual who is a member of either the Teachers’ or Employees’ Pension System on or before 
June 30, 2011, is eligible for full retirement benefits upon the earlier of attaining age 62, with specified 
years of eligibility service, or accumulating 30 years of eligibility service regardless of age.  An 
individual who becomes a member of either the Teachers’ or Employees’ Pension System on or after 
July 1, 2011, is eligible for full retirement benefits if the member’s combined age and eligibility service 
equals at least 90 years or if the member is at least age 65 and has accrued at least 10 years of 
eligibility service. 
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Note 7.  Pension Plan (continued) 
 
For most individuals who retired from either the Teachers’ or Employees’ Pension System on or before 
June 30, 2006, the annual pension allowance equals 1.2% of the member’s AFC, multiplied by the 
number of years of creditable service accumulated prior to July 1, 1998, plus 1.4% of the member’s 
AFC, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service accumulated subsequent to June 30, 
1998.  With certain exceptions, for individuals who are members of the Teachers’ or Employees’ 
Pension System on or after July 1, 2006, the annual pension allowance equals 1.2% of the member’s 
AFC, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service accumulated prior to July 1, 1998, plus 
1.8% of the member’s AFC, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service accumulated 
subsequent to June 30, 1998.  Beginning July 1, 2011, any new member of the Teachers’ or 
Employees’ Pension System shall earn an annual pension allowance equal to 1.5% of the member’s 
AFC multiplied by the number of years of creditable service accumulated as a member of the Teachers’ 
or Employee’s Pension System. 
 
Exceptions to these benefit formulas apply to members of the Employees’ Pension System, who are 
employed by a participating governmental unit that does not provide the 1998 or 2006 enhanced 
pension benefits or the 2011 reformed pension benefits.  The pension allowance for those members 
equals 0.8% of the member’s AFC up to the social security integration level (SSIL), plus 1.5% of the 
member’s AFC in excess of the SSIL, multiplied by the number of years of accumulated creditable 
service.  For the purpose of computing pension allowances, the SSIL is the average of the social 
security wage bases for the past 35 calendar years ending with the year the retiree separated from 
service. 
 


Vested Allowances 
 
Any individual who is a member of the State Retirement and Pension System on or before June 30, 
2011 (other than a judge or a legislator), and who terminates employment before attaining retirement 
age but after accumulating five years of eligibility service is eligible for a vested retirement allowance.   
Any individual who joins the State Retirement and Pension System on or after July 1, 2011 (other  than 
a judge or a legislator), and who terminates employment before attaining retirement age but after 
accumulating 10 years of eligibility service is eligible for a vested retirement allowance.  A member, 
who terminates employment prior to attaining retirement age and before vesting, receives a refund of all 
member contributions and interest. 
 


Early Service Retirement 
 
A member of either the Teachers’ or Employees’ Retirement System may retire with reduced benefits 
after completing 25 years of eligibility service.  Benefits are reduced by 0.5% per month for each month 
remaining until the retiree either attains age 60 or would have accumulated 30 years of creditable 
service, whichever is less.  The maximum reduction for a Teachers’ or Employees’ Retirement System 
member is 30%. 
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Note 7.  Pension Plan (continued) 


An individual who is a member of either the Teachers’ or Employees’ Pension System on or before 
June 30, 2011 may retire with reduced benefits upon attaining age 55 with a least 15 years of eligibility 
service.  Benefits are reduced by 0.5% per month for each month remaining until the retiree attains age 
62. The maximum reduction for these members of the Teachers’ or Employees’ Pension System is
42%. An individual who become a member of either the Teachers’ or Employees’ Pension System on
or after July 1, 2011, may retire with reduced benefits upon attaining age 60 with at least 15 years of
eligibility service.  Benefits are reduced by 0.5% per month for each month remaining until the retiree
attains age 65.  The maximum reduction for these members of the Teachers’ or Employees’ Pensions
System is 30%.


Members of the State Police, Judges’, Law Enforcement Officers’ and Local Fire and Police Systems 
are not eligible for early service benefits. 


Disability and Death Benefits 


Generally, a member covered under retirement plan provisions who is permanently disabled after five 
years of service receives a service allowance based on a minimum percentage (usually 25%) of the 
member’s AFC.  A member covered under pension plan provisions who is permanently disabled after 
accumulating 5 years of eligibility service receives a service allowance computed as if service had 
continued with no change in salary until the retiree attained age 62.  A member (other than a member 
of the Maryland General Assembly or a judge, both of which are ineligible for accidental disability 
benefits) who is permanently and totally disabled as the result of an accident occurring in the line of 
duty receives 2/3 (66.7%) of the member’s AFC plus an annuity based on all member contributions and 
interest.  Death benefits are equal to a member’s annual salary as of the date of death plus all member 
contributions and interest. 


Adjusted Retirement Allowances 


Retirement and pension allowances are increased annually to provide for changes in the cost of living 
according to prescribed formulae.  Such adjustments for retirees are based on the annual change in the 
CPI.  For the Teachers’ and Employees’ Retirement Systems (TRS/ERS) the method by which the 
annual COLA’s are computed depends upon elections made by members who were active on July 1, 
1984 (or within 90 days of returning to service, for members who were inactive on July 1, 1984) 
enabling the member to receive either an unlimited COLA, a COLA limited to 5% or a two part 
combination COLA depending upon the COLA election made by the member. 


However, beginning July 1, 2011, for benefits attributable to service earned on or after July 1, 2011, in 
all of the systems except the judges’ and legislators’ systems, the adjustment is capped in the lesser of 
2.5% or the increase in CPI if the most recent calendar year fair value rate of return was greater than or 
equal to the assumed rate.  The adjustment is capped at the lesser of 1% or the increase in CPI if the 
market value return was less than the assumed rate of return.  In years in which COLAs would be less 
than zero due to a decline in the CPI, retirement allowances will not be adjusted.  COLAs in succeeding 
years are adjusted until the difference between the negative COLA that would have applied and the 
zero COLA is fully recovered. 
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Note 7.  Pension Plan (continued) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The total pension liability in the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 


Inflation In the 2021 actuarial valuation, 2.25% general, 2.75% wage. In the 
2020 actuarial valuation, 2.60% general, 3.10% wage.


Salary Increases In the 2021 actuarial valuation, 2.75% to 9.25%. In the 2020 actuarial 
valuation, 3.10% to 11.6%. 


Investment Rate of Return In the 2021 actuarial valuation, 6.80%. In the 2020 actuarial 
valuation, 7.40%.


Retirement Age Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the type of 
eligibility condition. Last updated for the 2019 valuation pursuant to 
the 2018 experience study for the period July 1, 2014 to July 30, 
2018.


Mortality Various versions of the Pub- 2010 Mortality Tables for males and 
females with projected generational mortality improvements based on 
the MP-2018 fully generational mortality improvements scale for 
males and females.


 
Investments 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, 
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  These 
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the expected future 
real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.  Best 
estimates of geometric real rates of return were adopted by the Board of Trustees after considering 
input from the System’s investment consultant(s) and actuary(s).  For each major asset class that is 
included in the System’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 2021, these best estimates are 
summarized in the following table: 


Asset Class
Target 


Allocation
Long-Term Expected 
Real Rate of Return


Public Equity 37% 4.7%
Private Equity 13% 6.5%
Rate Sensitive 19% -0.4%
Credit Opportunity 9% 2.6%
Real Assets 14% 4.2%
Absolute Return 8% 2.0%
Total 100%


 
The above was the Board of Trustees adopted asset allocation policy and best estimate of geometric 
real rates of return for each major asset class as of June 30, 2021. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan 
investments, net of the pension plan investment expense, was 26.69%.  The money-weighted rate of 
return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing 
amounts actually invested. 
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Note 7.  Pension Plan (continued) 
 
Discount rate 
 
A single discount rate of 6.80% was used to measure the total pension liability.  The single discount 
rate was based on the expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 6.80%.  The projection of 
cash flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be 
made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the 
difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate.  Based on these 
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all 
projected future benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of 
return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to 
determine the total pension liability. 
 
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability 
 
Regarding the sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the single discount rate, the following 
presents the plan’s net pension liability, calculated using a single discount rate of 6.80%, as well as 
what the plan’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% point 
lower or 1% point higher: 


1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
System to 5.80% 6.80% to 7.80%


Employees (Muni) 865,780$        508,344$        211,852$         
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions 
 
The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2021, and the total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  The Town’s 
proportion of the net pension liability was calculated as follows by the System(s): 
 


1. Calculate the net pension liability for the entire System. For purposes of funding the System, all 
calculations are determined on an actuarial basis and are completed through the development 
of rates based on two separate asset pools, one for employees of the State of Maryland (the 
State) and one for the Participating Governmental Units (“PGUs”).  These pools are kept on an 
actuarial basis and allow for the State to fund only State employees and PGUs to fund only 
PGU employees.  For the accounting of the System, however, the assets of the System are 
accounted in a single pool which is audited annually. 
 


2. Determined the total contributions to the System by the State and PGUs, inclusive of any 
underfunding of contributions. 


 
3. Calculated for each participating government, their percentage of the adjusted System 


contribution by dividing the total adjusted System contribution into each PGU’s contribution. 
 


4. Provide each PGU its adjusted percentage of contribution and the System’s net pension liability 
and other related amounts as of June 30, 2021, under the GASB No. 67 requirements. 
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Note 7.  Pension Plan (continued) 
 
At June 30, 2022, the Town reported the following related to pensions: 


Employer's proportionate (percentage) of the collective net pension liability 0.0033884%


Employer's proportionate share of the collective net pension liability 508,344$        


Pension expense recognized by the employer for the year ended June 30, 2022 18,665$          


Defferred Defferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources


Changes in assumptions 98,394$          (10,896)$        
Net difference between projected and actual investment earnings on pension plan 
investments 49,486           (281,637)        
Differences between expected and actual experience -                     (38,962)          
Change in proportion 24,334           -                     
Contributions subsequent to measurment date 76,373           -                     


Total 248,587$        (331,495)$      


The $76,373 of deferred outflows of resources resulting from the Town’s contributions to the 
Employees’ Systems subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net 
pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2023.  Other amounts reported as deferred inflows/outflows 
of resources will be amortized over a five year period, as follows: 


June 30,
Net Deferred 


(Inflows) Outflows


2023 (46,192)$                   
2024 (38,357)                     
2025 (37,971)                     
2026 (48,142)                     
2027 11,381                       


Total (159,281)$                 


 
For the year ended June 30, 2022 the Town’s total payroll for all employees was $763,086.  Total 
covered payroll was $722,543. Covered payroll refers to all compensation paid by the Town to active 
employees covered by Employees’ Systems. 
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Note 8. Other Post-Employment Health Care Benefits (“OPEB”) 
 
Plan Description 
 
The Town administers a single-employer defined benefit health care plan (“the Plan”) for employees 
that have met certain service requirements.  The Town has the authority to establish and amend the 
funding of the Plan.  No assets are accumulated in a trust that meet the criteria as defined in GASB No. 
75 paragraph 4.  The Town reimburses qualified expenses from the general fund.  The Plan does not 
issue a separate publicly available financial report. 
 
Under the Retiree Health Reimbursement Plan effective July 1, 2021, retired employees with 30 years 
of service with the Town or retired employees with 10 years of service with the Town and at least 62 
years old at retirement are eligible to receive benefits.  The Town will provide reimbursement for 
qualified expenses not to exceed $4,000 per plan year.   
 
The number of covered employees are as follows: 


Participants
Active employees 10    
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits -       
Inactive employees currently receiving benefits 1      


11    
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Note 8. Other Post-Employment Health Care Benefits (“OPEB”) (continued) 
 
Significant assumptions and other inputs to measure the total OPEB liability are as follows: 


Assumptions
Age adjustment factor
Average retirement age
Employer future premium contribution
Actuarial cost method
Amortization method
Assets backing liability
Plan asset return
Bond yield
Discount rate
Measurement date
Prior measurement date
Prior year discount date
Projected salary increases
Amortization period
Percentage participation
NOL and ADC


Mortality table


Turnover assumption


Healthcare Cost Trend Rates
Medical Pharmacy Dental Vison


Year 1 4.70% 5.20% 3.50% 3.00%
Year 10+ 4.20% 4.20% 3.00% 3.00%


4.09%


1.00%
65


Remain at the current $ level over time
Entry Age Normal


Level Percentage of Payroll
$0


0.00%
4.09%; 20-year tax exempt municipal bond yield


Calculated using the Alternative Measurement 
Method in accordance with GASB methodology.
Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plans Mortality Tables, 
with mortality improvement projected for 10 years.
Derived from data maintained by the U.S. Office of 
Personnel Management regarding the most recent 
experience of the employee group covered by the 
Federal Employees Retirement System.


6/30/2022
6/30/2022


4.09%
5.00%


20
100.00%


 
The following presents the Plan’s net OPEB liability, calculated using the current discount rate, as well 
as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% point lower 
or 1% point higher: 


1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
Net OPEB liability 211,707         184,011         161,294         


DISCOUNT RATE


 
The following presents the Plan’s net OPEB liability, calculated using the current health care trend rate, 
as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a health care trend rate that is 
1% point lower or 1% point higher: 


1% Decrease Baseline Trend 1% Increase
Net OPEB liability 184,896         184,011         183,139         


HEALTH CARE TREND
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Note 8. Other Post-Employment Health Care Benefits (“OPEB”) (continued) 
 
Changes in the net OPEB liability are as follows: 


Plan
Total OPEB Fiduciary Net Net OPEB


Liability Position Liability
Balances as of June 30, 2021 -$                   -$                   -$                   


Service cost -                     -                     -                     
Interest on total OPEB liability (40)                 -                     (40)                 
Effect of plan changes 186,050          -                     186,050          
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses -                     -                     -                     
Effect of assumption changes or inputs -                     -                     -                     
Benefit payment (1,999)            (1,998)            (1)                   
Employer contributions -                     1,998             (1,998)            
Employee contributions -                     -                     -                     
Net investment income -                     -                     -                     
Administrative expenses -                     -                     -                     


Balances as of June 30, 2022 184,011$        -$               184,011$        


The amount of OPEB expense recognized in the reporting period are as follows: 


OPEB
Expense


Service cost -$               
Interest on total OPEB liability (40)             
Effect of plan changes 186,050     
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses -                 
Effect of assumption changes or inputs -                 
Benefit payments -                 
Employer contributions -                 
Employee contributions -                 
Net investment income -                 
Administrative expense -                 
Total 186,010$   


 
Per GASB 75 paragraph 43(a), deferred inflows/outflows of resources related to differences between 
actual and expected experience with regard to economic or demographic factors or changes in 
assumptions and other inputs should not be used under the Alternative Measurement Method.  These 
items should be recognized in OPEB expense immediately.  Per paragraph 43(b), the difference 
between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments should be recognized in OPEB 
expense over a closed 5-year period; the amount not immediately recognized should be reported as 
deferred inflows/outflows.  As such, if your plan does not have OPEB assets in a trust, deferred 
inflows/outflows are $0. 
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Note 9.  Risk Management 
 
The Town has identified various areas where it is at risk of loss during the normal course of business.  
Those areas include property damage or destruction, general liability, employee dishonesty, worker’s 
compensation, etc.  It is the Town’s policy to eliminate the risk of loss in those areas through the 
purchase of commercial insurance and/or participation in the Local Government Insurance Trust 
(LGIT). 
 
There were no significant reductions in insurance coverage during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.  
Settlement amounts have not exceeded insurance coverage for the current or three prior years. 
 
LGIT is a consortium of Maryland local governments that provides insurance coverage to its 
participants.  The Town’s annual premium requirements will be affected by the loss experience of the 
various insurance pools in which it participates.  The Town may be required to make additional 
assessments from time to time.  These amounts would be recorded as expenditure when they are 
probable and can be reasonably estimated.  Conversely, favorable performance of certain insurance 
pools may result in reduced premiums. 
 
Note 10.  Commitments, Contingencies and Subsequent Events 
 
In the normal course of business, there are outstanding various commitments and contingent liabilities 
in addition to the normal encumbrances for the purchase of goods and services.  The Town does not 
anticipate losses as a result of these transactions. 
 
In the normal course of operations, the Town receives grant funds from various Federal and state 
agencies.  The grant programs are subject to audit by agents of the granting authority, the purpose of 
which is to ensure compliance with conditions precedent to the granting of funds.  Any liability for 
reimbursement, which may arise as the result of these audits, is not believed to be material. 
 
Note 11. Prior Period Restatement 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2022, it was determined that accrued vacation was not properly 
reported on the General Fund or Enterprise Fund.  An adjustment was made to reflect the appropriate 
allocation of this liability. 
 
For 2022, the Town implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 
87, Leases.  GASB Statement No. 87 enhances the relevance and consistency of information of the 
government’s leasing activities.  It establishes requirements for lease accounting based on the principle 
that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset.  A lessee is required to recognize a 
lease liability and an intangible right to use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease 
receivable and a deferred inflow of resources.   
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Note 11. Prior Period Restatement (continued) 
 
These corrections and changes were incorporated in the Town’s 2022 financial statements and had the 
following effect on the Town’s net position and fund balance as of June 30, 2021: 
 


Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities


Net Position June 30, 2021 3,405,384$       20,449,415$     
GASB 87 Adjustments:


Lease receivable 286,999            -                       
Deferred inflows- lease receivable (235,095)           -                       


Accrued Vacation Liability Adjustment (19,597)            (11,374)            
Net Position June 30, 2021, as restated 3,437,691$       20,438,041$     


General Enterprise
Fund Fund


Fund Balance / Net Position June 30, 2021 1,441,166$       20,449,415$     
Accrued Vacation Liability Adjustment (19,597)            (11,374)            


Fund Balance / Net Position June 30, 2021, as restated 1,421,569$       20,438,041$     
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Variance
Original Final With Final
Budget Budget Actual Budget


REVENUES:
 Property taxes 934,617$     903,857$     904,762$     905$            
Intergovernmental 250,989       303,839       362,587       58,748         
Licenses and permits 21,031         21,606         27,143         5,537           
Other agencies 204,383       40,883         17,296         (23,587)        
Rents 65,020         117,546       119,566       2,020           
Investment income 1,000           3,500           5,026           1,526           


 Miscellaneous 3,000           5,500           62,417         56,917         


Total revenues 1,480,040    1,396,731    1,498,797    102,066       


EXPENDITURES
General government 631,422       633,550       568,003       65,547         
Public safety 261,000       229,000       225,806       3,194           
Public works 427,000       530,100       534,727       (4,627)          
Parks and recreation 99,350         101,150       108,870       (7,720)          
Capital outlay 224,400       75,800         14,131         61,669         


Total expenditures 1,643,172    1,569,600    1,451,537    118,063       


Excess (deficiency) of revenue
over expenditures (163,132)      (172,869)      47,260         (15,997)        


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Proceeds from long-term leases - - 3,465 (3,465)          


Net change in fund balance (163,132)$    (172,869)$    50,725$       (19,462)$      


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - GENERAL FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2022
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Plan's 
Fidcuciary


Employer's Employer's Proportionate Net Position
Proportion Proportion Share Plan's as a


(Percentage) Share as a Total Plan's Percentage
of the of the Percentage Fiduciary Total of Total


Measurement Collective Collective Covered of Covered Net Pension Pension
Date NPL NPL Payroll Payroll Position Liability Liability


A B C (B / C) D E (D / E)


June 30, 2014 0.0025705% 456,180$    472,761$  96% 45,339,988,000$  63,086,719,000$ 72%
June 30, 2015 0.0008234% 608,446$    497,972$  122% 45,789,840,000$  66,571,552,000$ 69%
June 30, 2016 0.0029917% 705,864$    520,058$  136% 45,365,927,000$  68,959,954,000$ 66%
June 30, 2017 0.0031597% 683,245$    608,259$  112% 48,987,184,000$  70,610,885,000$ 69%
June 30, 2018 0.0033455% 701,931$    600,047$  117% 51,827,233,000$  72,808,833,000$ 71%
June 30, 2019 0.0033229% 685,351$    579,116$  118% 53,943,420,000$  74,569,030,000$ 72%
June 30, 2020 0.0032569% 736,113$    564,082$  130% 54,586,037,000$  77,187,397,000$ 71%
June 30, 2021 0.0033884% 508,344$    729,147$  70% 67,604,500,000$  82,606,805,000$ 82%


This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year trend is 
compiled, pension plans should present information for those years for which the information is available.


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION


JUNE 30, 2022


SCHEDULE OF THE PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY
MARYLAND STATE RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN


(as of measurement date)


Page 44







Actual
Contribution


Employer's as a 
Contractually Contribution Covered Percentage


Fiscal Required Actual Deficiency Employee of Covered
Year Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Payroll


A B (A - B) C (B / C)


2015 61,710$       61,710$       -$                497,972$     12%
2016 58,281$       58,281$       -$                520,058$     11%
2017 64,311$       64,311$       -$                608,259$     11%
2018 66,711$       66,711$       -$                600,047$     11%
2019 68,235$       68,235$       -$                579,116$     12%
2020 69,831$       69,831$       -$                564,082$     12%
2021 74,665$       74,665$       -$                729,147$     10%
2022 76,373$       76,373$       -$                722,543$     11%


This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirements to show information 
for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, pension plans 
should present information for those years for which the information is 
available.


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION


JUNE 30, 2022


SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS
MARYLAND STATE RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN


(as of fiscal year)
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Changes in Benefit Terms
There were no benefit changes during the year.


Changes in Assumptions


Method and Assumptions used in Calculations of Actuarially Determined Contributions


Actuarial Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method Level Percentage of Payroll, Closed
Remaining Amortization 
Period


25-year closed amortization period ending June 30, 2039; 17 years 
remaining.


Asset Valuation Model Five-year smoothed market (max. 120% and min 80% of the market 
value)


Inflation In the 2021 actuarial valuation, 2.25% general, 2.75% wage. In the 
2020 actuarial valuation, 2.60% general, 3.10% wage. 


Salary Increases In the 2021 actuarial valuation, 2.75% to 9.25%. In the 2020 actuarial 
valuation, 3.10% to 11.6%.


Investment Rate of 
Return


In the 2021 actuarial valuation, 6.80%. In the 2020 actuarial valuation, 
7.40%.


Retirement Age Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the type of 
eligibility condition. Last updated for the 2019 valuation pursuant to the 
2018 experience study for the period July 1, 2014 to July 30, 2018.


Mortality Various versions of the Pub- 2010 Mortality Tables for males and 
females with projected generational mortality improvements based on 
the MP-2018 fully generational mortality improvements scale for males 
and females.


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION


JUNE 30, 2022


Discount rate changed to 6.80%.


MARYLAND STATE RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN
ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS
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2022
Balances, beginning of year -$            


Service cost -              
Interest on total OPEB liability (40)              
Effect of plan changes 186,050       
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses -              
Effect of assumption changes or inputs -              
Benefit payments (1,999)         
Employer contributions -              
Employee contributions -              
Net investment income -              
Administrative expense -              


Balances, end of year 184,011$     


This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years.  
However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled,  only information for those years for which the 
information is available, will be presented.


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF THE CHANGES IN THE TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY
(as of measurement date)
Last ten fiscal years
JUNE 30, 2022
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2022


Total OPEB Liability (A) 184,011$          


Covered payroll (B) 805,489$          


% of Covered-employee payroll (A / B) 23%


This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years.  However, 
until a full 10-year trend is compiled,  only information for those years for which the information is 
available, will be presented.


REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND


SCHEDULE OF THE TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AS A PERCENTAGE OF COVERED PAYROLL
(as of measurement date)
Last ten fiscal years
JUNE 30, 2022
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June 30, 2022
Discount rate - 4.09%


The following factors affect trends in the amounts reported:


The Town does not have a dedicated Trust to pay retiree healthcare benefits.


REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND


NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - OPEB PLAN
JUNE 30, 2022
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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Variance
Original Final With Final
Budget Budget Actual Budget


OPERATING REVENUES:
Water service charges 396,340$     345,090$     335,476$     (9,614)$        
Wastewater service charges 494,400       494,400       506,419       12,019         
SMSP service charges 100,000       133,500       133,500       -                   
Bay restoration fee 35,500         35,500         35,753         253              


Total operating revenues 1,026,240    1,008,490    1,011,148    2,658           


OPERATING EXPENSES:
Water 826,785       336,200       332,253       3,947           
Sewer 711,698       513,900       529,288       (15,388)        
SMSP 162,620       153,500       158,759       (5,259)          
Bay restoration fee 34,800         34,800         33,818         982              


Total operating expenses 1,735,903    1,038,400    1,054,118    (15,718)        


Operating income (loss) (709,663)      (29,910)        (42,970)        (13,060)        


NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Intergovernmental revenues 550,000 16,300 1,033,373    1,017,073    
Capital asset transferred 
from general fund -                   -                   3,235 3,235           


Investment income 150              150              424 274              


Total nonoperating revenues
(expenses) 550,150       16,450         1,037,032    1,020,582    


Change in net position (159,513)$    (13,460)$      994,062$     1,007,522$  


TOWN OF OXFORD, MARYLAND
OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - 
WATER, SEWER, AND STORMWATER FUND REVENUE AND EXPENSE DETAIL
Year Ended June 30, 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
 
Commissioners of Oxford 
Town of Oxford, Maryland 
Oxford, Maryland 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, and each major fund of the Town of Oxford, Maryland (“the 
Town”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon 
dated December 28, 2022.   
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town's internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstance for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control.  
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that 
were not identified.  However, as described below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control 
that we consider to be a material weakness.    
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. 
 
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.   
 
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there 
is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  We identified the following deficiency in 
internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be a material weakness, as defined above.   


 
 


An Independent Member of Urbach Hacker Young International Limited 
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Finding Number 2022-001 
 


Criteria:  Proper segregation of duties should be in place to strengthen internal controls to 
provide reasonable assurance that a material misstatement to the financial statements is 
prevented. 
 
Condition:  We noted that the system currently in place creates conflicts within duties assigned 
to a single individual and produces a high level of internal control risk.  During our audit, we 
noted a lack of segregation of duties.   
 
Cause:  The lack of appropriately designed internal control systems has produced conflicts 
regarding assigned duties. 
 
Effect:  Segregation of duties issues does not allow management or employees, in the normal 
course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, the 
misappropriation of assets and/or errors on a timely basis.   
 
Recommendation:  We recommend that, when possible, responsibilities for authorization, 
recording, and maintaining custody of assets be assigned to different employees.  In situations 
where this is not possible, we recommend the implementation of certain transaction review 
controls.  It is important to note that review controls do not eliminate all risk when segregation of 
duties conflicts exist, and management and those charged with governance need to be aware of 
such risks. 
 
Identification of Repeat Finding:  Due to the nature and size of the Town, this is a repeat finding. 
 
Views of Responsible Officials:  It has been determined that it would not be cost effective for the 
Town to add additional personnel to ensure complete segregation of duties in the finance 
department.  However, within the two-person finance department, the Town has effectively 
designed and implemented mitigating internal controls to help reduce such risk. 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 


As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town's financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on 
the financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not 
an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 


Purpose of this Report 


The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 


Salisbury, Maryland 
December 28, 2022 












Resolution 2009 


Charter Amendment – Town Manager/Clerk-Treasurer 


Page 1 


RESOLUTION NO.  2012 


 


A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMISSIONERS OF OXFORD TO 


AMEND SECTION C7-3 OF THE OXFORD TOWN CHARTER TO 


PROVIDE THAT THE POSITION OF CLERK-TREASURER 


MAYBE COMBINED WITH THE POSITION OF TOWN 


MANAGER 


 


 WHEREAS, Md. Code Ann. Local Gov’t Article § 4-304 confers upon the 


Commissioners of Oxford the authority to initiate proposed amendments the Charter for the 


Town of Oxford; and  


 


 WHEREAS, the Commissioners of Oxford have determined that it is desirable and 


in the public interest to amend Section C7-3 to include the ability to combine the position 


of Clerk-Treasurer with Town Manager when appropriate.    


 


 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMISSIONERS OF 


OXFORD AS FOLLOWS: 


 


 Section 1:   The Oxford Town Charter, Section C7-3 Town Manager is hereby 


amended as follows: 


 


Section C3-2. Qualifications of Commissioners. 


 


The office of Town Manager may be created at the pleasure of the 


Commission. This position must be reflected in the drafted budget for the 


succeeding year, provided funds and office space are available. The office 


of Town Manager/Clerk-Treasurer, combining the two positions, may be 


utilized if the Commission determines it is appropriate and a suitable 


person is available to perform the duties. Once designated, the position of 


Town Manager/Clerk-Treasurer shall hold the title of Town Manager. 


  


Section 2: This Resolution shall be posted and published in accordance with the 


requirements set forth in Md. Code Ann. Local Government Article § 4-304.  


 


 Section 3: This Resolution shall become effective 50 days after final enactment 


unless a petition for referendum has been filed prior thereto in accordance with Section 4-


304 of the Local Government Article of the Code of Maryland.  This Resolution shall be 


deemed “finally enacted” on the date on which the Commissioners of Oxford indicate their 


approval of this Resolution by affixing their signatures hereto.   


 


 Section 4: As soon as this Resolution becomes effective, the Town Clerk-


Treasurer shall cause to be delivered to the Department of Legislative Reference all the 


information regarding the Charter Amendment, this Resolution, and any referendum held 
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thereon as may be required by the Local Government Article of the Annotated Code of 


Maryland.   


 


RESOLVED, this _____ day of September, 2020.  


 


                                   


 


                  COMMISSIONERS OF OXFORD: 


 


 ________________________________ 


 John Pepe, President  


 


     ________________________________ 


 Gordon Fronk, Commissioner 


 


 _________________________________ 


 Gordon Graves, Commissioner 


 


 


 I hereby certify that the above Resolution was passed by a yea and nay vote of the 


Commissioners of Oxford on the _______ day of ______________, 2020.  


 


Attest:  _________________________ 


 Cheryl Lewis, Clerk/Treasurer 


 Town of Oxford 


 


 


Language stricken indicates language deleted from the Charter for the Town of Oxford 


Language in bold and italicized indicates language added to the Charter for the Town of 


Oxford  







In my opinion, the combination of the Town Manager and Treasurer function is not ideal.  To
be clear I don't believe there is any impropriety going on, but the lack of strong segregation of
duties creates a perception/optics challenge for the Town.  Both my husband, Ken Davis and I
have a combined 20+ years experience in the accounting/auditing world, and we would be
happy to troubleshoot ideas for compensating controls that could be put in place to further
mitigate the audit finding.  

Thank you for your consideration, 
Melody Davis




